

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2010

PROTEASOME-DEPENDENT ENTRY OF HERPES SIMPLEX VIRUS

Mark Delboy Virginia Commonwealth University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

© The Author

Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/47

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.



PROTEASOME-DEPENDENT ENTRY OF HERPES SIMPLEX VIRUS

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of

Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University.

by

Mark G. Delboy

Bachelor of Science in Biology

Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, 2005

Director: Anthony V. Nicola, Ph.D.

Associate Professor, Microbiology and Immunology Department

Virginia Commonwealth University

Richmond, Virginia

April 19th, 2010



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am very grateful for my thesis advisor Anthony Nicola: for giving me the numerous opportunities, valuable guidance and the constant positive support throughout the years. I also want to thank the members of my thesis committee: Suzanne Barbour, Daniel Conrad, Phillip Hylemon, Kimberly Jefferson and Michael McVoy for their time and helpful input.

I am grateful to Gary Cohen, Richard J. Courtney, Prashant Desai, Roselyn Eisenberg, Roger D. Everett, Thomas Holland, Harvey Ozer, Priscilla Schaffer, Patricia Spear, and Stephen Straus for kindly providing reagents. I thank Carlos R. Siekavizza-Robles for assistance with viral preparations, Devin G. Roller for assistance with the fusion-from-without analysis and Farzaneh Rostami for assistance with the infection analysis. I would also like to thank current and past members of the lab and the McVoy lab, for their guidance, assistance and sometimeserratic conversations.

I would like to thank and dedicate this work to the following family and friends for their love, support and prayers: Lydia and Frederick Delboy; Amanda Delboy, Dan Delboy, Fred Delboy, Ia Schomaker, Anna Schomaker, Kevin Heath, Jen Meadows, Stan Anders, Rosa Rios, Brandon Pace, Chris Osterhout, Ashley Foerster and those who are not mentioned but are still influential and important in my life.



ii

ABSTRACT

PROTEASOME-DEPENDENT ENTRY OF HERPES SIMPLEX VIRUS

By Mark G. Delboy, B.S.

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Virginia Commonwealth University.

Virginia Commonwealth University, 2010.

Major Director: Anthony V. Nicola, Ph.D. Associate Professor, Microbiology and Immunology Department

Herpes simplex virus entry into cells is a multistep process that engages the host cell machinery. The proteasome is a large, ATP-dependent, multisubunit protease that plays a critical role in the maintenance of cell homeostasis. A battery of assays were used to demonstrate that proteasome inhibitors blocked an early step in herpes simplex virus entry that occurred after capsid penetration into the cytosol but prior to capsid arrival at the nuclear periphery. Proteasome-dependent viral entry was not reliant on host or viral protein synthesis. MG132, a peptide aldehyde that competitively inhibits the degradative activity of the proteasome, had a



reversible inhibitory effect on herpes simplex virus capsid transport. Herpes simplex virus can use endocytic or nonendocytic pathways to enter cells. These distinct entry routes were both dependent on proteasome-mediated proteolysis. In addition, herpes simplex virus successfully entered cells in the absence of a functional host ubiquitin-activating enzyme, suggesting that viral entry is ubiquitin independent.

Herpes simplex virus immediate-early protein ICP0 is a multifunctional regulator of herpes simplex virus infection. Late in infection ICP0 interacts dynamically with cellular proteasomes. ICPO has a RING finger domain with E3 ubiquitin ligase activity that is necessary for its IE functions. The fundamental and functional properties of ICP0 that is present in the virion tegument layer have not been well characterized. For these reasons, I sought to characterize tegument ICP0 and determine the role of tegument ICP0 during proteasomedependent entry of herpes simplex virus. Protein compositions of wild-type and ICPO null virions were similar, suggesting that the absence of ICP0 does not grossly impair virion assembly. Virions with mutations in the RING finger domain contained greatly reduced levels of tegument ICP0, suggesting that the domain influences the incorporation of ICP0. Virion ICP0 was resistant to removal by detergent and salt and was associated with capsids, features common to inner tegument proteins. ICP0 mutations that resulted in the absence of ICP0 in the tegument layer, allow herpes simplex virus to enter cells independently of the proteasome activity. I propose that proteasomal degradation of virion and/or host proteins is regulated by ICP0 to allow for efficient delivery of incoming herpes simplex virus capsids to the nucleus.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tablesix
List of Figuresx
List of Abbreviationsxii
I. INTRODUCTION
A. HERPES SIMPLEX VIRUS
1. Background1
2. Virion structure
3. Infectious cycle7
<i>4. HSV entry</i> 9
B. HSV TEGUMENT LAYER12
1. Composition and structure14
2. Functional properties17
a. Pre-immediate early events17
b. HSV gene expression
c. Primary envelopment and nuclear egress
d. Egress
C. INFECTED CELL PROTEIN 0



	1. Structural properties of newly expressed infected cell protein 0	
	2. Functional properties of newly expressed infected cell protein 0	24
	a. Gene expression	
	b. E3 ligase activity	
	c. ND10 disruption	
	3. Properties of tegument infected cell protein 0	27
D.	UBIQUITIN-PROTEASOME SYSTEM	27
	1. Cellular proteasome	
	2. Ubiquitin machinery	
	3. Targeting a protein for the proteasome	
	4. Proteasomal inhibitors	
E.	AIM OF CURRENT WORK	
II.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	
A.	CELLS AND MEDIA	
B.	VIRUSES	
C.	POLYCLONAL AND MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES	40
D.	CHEMICALS	42
E.	PLAQUE ASSAY	42
F.	CITRATE INACTIVATION ASSAY	43
G.	β-GALACTOSIDASE REPORTER ASSAY	43
H.	CELL VIABILITY	44
I.	CELL BINDING ASSAY	44
J.	SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF HSV BY CONFOCAL	



MICROSCROPY44		
K. FLUORESCENCE PROTEASE PROTECTION ASSAY45		
L. FUSION-FROM-WITHOUT ASSAY		
M. THERMOSENSITIVE E1 UBIQUITIN-ACTIVATING ENZYME ASSAY46		
N. SODIUM-DODECYL POLYACRYLAMIDE ELECTROPHORESIS		
O. PREPARATION OF UNINFECTED AND INFECTED CELL LYSATES47		
P. TEGUMENT RELEASE ASSAY47		
III. PROTEASOME ACTIVITY IS REQUIRED FOR HSV ENTRY AT POST-		
PENETRATION STEP		
A. INTRODUCTION		
B. RESULTS		
1. Early HSV infection is blocked by proteasomal inhibitors		
2. Early HSV infection by endocytic or nonendocytic routes are		
proteasome-dependent51		
3. Proteasome-dependence is strain and serotype independent		
4. Inhibitors act directly on the cellular proteasome53		
5. Proteasome activity is required at an early step of HSV entry		
6. Chymotrypsin-like proteasome active site required for HSV entry		
7. HSV entry is independent of the E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme		
8. Binding of HSV to the cell surface is independent of proteasome		
activity61		
9. MG132 affects an entry step prior to capsid transport61		
10. MG132 block on capsid transport is partially reversible64		



11. HSV entry relies on proteasome activity at a postpenetration step
IV. FUNDAMENTAL PROPERTIES OF TEGUMENT ICP0
A. INTRODUCTION
B. RESULTS
1. Absence of ICP0 does not alter mature virion protein composition
2. Really interesting new gene domain influences tegument
ICP0 incorporation72
3. Tegument infected cell protein 0 is capsid associated75
V. A PRE-IMMEDIATE EARLY ROLE FOR TEGUMENT ICP0
A. INTRODUCTION
B. RESULTS
1. In the absence of tegument ICP0, early HSV infection is
resistant to MG13279
VI. DISCUSSION
A. INTRODUCTION
B. CELL TYPE AND PROTEASOME-DEPENDENT ENTRY OF HSV
C. ASPECTS OF TARGET SUBSTRATE
D. TEGUMENT ICP0
E. FUTURE DIRECTIONS
VII. CONCLUDING REMARKS
VIII. BIBLIOGRAPHY
IX. VITA



List of Tables

Table I. Human herpesviruses	2
Table II. Conservation of HSV-1 tegument proteins	13
Table III. Properties and functions of HSV-1 tegument proteins	15
Table IV. Functional properties of ICP0 proteins	20
Table V. Details of ICP0 proteins expressed by viruses	41



List of Figures

Figure I. Herpes simplex virus structural elements
Figure II. HSV genome structure
Figure III. HSV infection of a model neuronal cell
Figure IV. HSV entry pathways11
Figure V. ICP0 domains
Figure VI. RING finger domain protein structure23
Figure VII. 26S and 20S proteasome structure
Figure VIII. 20S catalytic mechanism
Figure IX. Overview of the ubiquitin-proteasome system
Figure X. Proteasome inhibitor mechanisms
Figure XI. Effect of proteasomal inhibitors on early HSV infection
Figure XII. Lactacystin acts directly on the cell proteasome, not on an HSV-specific
function
Figure XIII. MG132 is most effective when added early in infection
Figure XIV. Effect of inhibitors of the distinct proteolytic activities
on the 20S β-subunit
Figure XV. Role of a cellular E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme
in HSV entry



Figure XVI. Effect of proteasomal inhibitors on binding and capsid transport	62
Figure XVII. Effect of washout on the MG132 block of capsid transport	65
Figure XVIII. Effect of MG132 on pre-penetration and fusion steps	67
Figure XIX. Protein content of extracellular wild type and ICP0 null	
mature virions	73
Figure XX. Effect of RING finger mutations on the incorporation of	
ICP0 into virions	74
Figure XXI. Position of ICP0 in the virion tegument layer	77
Figure XXII. Effect of MG132 on the entry of ICP0 mutants	79
Figure XXIII. Potential mechanism of proteasome-dependent entry of HSV	



List of Abbreviations

Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)1
Herpes simplex virus (HSV)1
HSV type-1 (HSV-1)2
HSV type-2 (HSV-2)2
Figure (Fig)4
Unique long (U _L)4
Unique short (U _S)4
Viral protein (VP)4
Nuclear pore complex (NPC)7
Immediate early (IE)7
Infected cell protein (ICP)7
Early (E)7
Late (L)7
Trans-golgi network (TGN)
Inner nuclear membrane (INM)9
Outer nuclear membrane (ONM)9
Glycoprotein (g)10
Herpesvirus entry mediator (HVEM)



Paired immunoglobulin-like type 2 receptor α (PILR α)	10
Chinese hamster ovary (CHO)	12
Minutes (min)	12
Postinfection (p.i.)	12
Virion host shutoff (VHS)	13
Interferon (IFN)	15
Deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs)	15
Essential (E)	16
Nonessential (NE)	16
Messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA)	17
Temperature sensitive (ts)	
Human factor C1 (HCF-1)	
Organic cation transporter-1 (OCT-1)	
Multiplicity of infection (MOI)	
Kilodalton (kDa)	19
Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT)	20
Nuclear domain 10 (ND10)	20
Promyelocytic leukemia (PML)	20
Wild type (WT)	21
Plaque forming unites (PFU)	21
Bovine herpesvirus 1 (BHV-1)	21
Equine herpes virus 1 (EHV-1)	21
Pseudorabies virus (PRV)	21



Varicella Zoster virus (VZV)	1
Nuclear localization signal (NLS)	1
Really interesting new gene (RING)	1
Hydrogen nuclear magnetic resonance (H-NMR)	1
Amino acid (aa)	2
Ubiquitin-specific protease 7 (USP7)	2
Equine herpes virus related ICP0 (EICP0)	3
Speckled 100 (SP100)	5
Centromere protein (CENP)	5
Protein kinase (PK)	5
Adenosine triphosphate (ATP)27	7
ATP-dependent proteolysis factor-1 (APF1)27	7
Ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS)28	3
Megadalton (MDa)28	3
Associated protein (AP)	3
Homologous to E6–AP carboxyl terminus (HECT)	3
Thymidine kinase (tk)40)
Green fluorescent protein (GFP)40)
Syncytial (syn)40)
Monoclonal antibody (MAb)40)
Rabbit polyclonal antibody (RAb)42	2
N-tosyl-L-phenylalanine chloromethylketone (TPCK)	2
N-a-tosyl-L-lysinyl-chloromethylketone (TLCK)	2



Hour (h)	42
Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS)	43
4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES)	45
Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)	46
Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE)	46
Ethylenediaminetetraaceitc acid (EDTA)	47
Fusion-from-without (FFWO)	70
Small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO)	83



I. INTRODUCTION

A. HERPES SIMPLEX VIRUS

1. Background

Herpesviruses are a group of DNA viruses with a distinctive viral architecture (192). Assignment to the herpesviridae family is made on the basis of virion morphology. Virions are composed of a densely packed, linear double-stranded DNA core, which is enclosed by an icosahedral capsid. Surrounding the capsid is a proteinaceous or tegument layer. These two viral structures are bounded by a host-derived envelope with embedded glycoprotein spikes. More than 80 herpesviruses have been identified and 8 are known human pathogens (256). Biological criteria were used to assign viruses to three subfamilies, the *alpha-*, *beta-* or *gammaherpesvirinae* (192) (Table I.). A common feature of herpesviruses is the ability to persist for the lifetime of the host (256). Alphaherpesviruses have a broad host range but primarily infect sensory ganglia (224). Betaherpesviruses infect secretory glands, lymphoreticular cells, kidneys and other tissues. Gammaherpesviruses have a limited host range and usually infect either T or B lymphocytes. This grouping scheme correlates with evolutionary analysis of herpesviral genomes (192).

After herpes simplex virus (HSV) comes into contact with the skin or mucous membrane, the virus undergoes replication at the site of infection (65). The virus can then infect sensory



www.manaraa.com

1

Common Name	Subfamily	Common disease/Symptoms
Herpes simplex 1 (HSV-1)	α	Herpes labialis, keratitis
Herpes simplex 2 (HSV-2)	α	Herpes genitalis, neonatal encephalitis
Varicella-zoster virus (VZV)	α	Varicella (chicken pox), herpes zoster (shingles), postherpetic neuralgia
Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)	γ	Infectious mononucleosis, oral hairy leukoplakia, Burkitt's lymphoma, nasopharyngeal carcinoma
Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV)	β	Congenital CNS maldevelopment, mononucleosis, posttransplant and AIDS complications
Human B-lympotropic virus (HHV-6)	β	Infant exanthem subitum, posttransplant and AIDS complications
Human herpesvirus 7 (HHV-7)	β	None known
Kaposi's sarcoma- associated virus (KHSV)	γ	Kaposi's sarcoma, primary effusion lymphoma, multicentric Castleman's disease

Table I. Human herpesviruses

Table modified from (232).



neurons that innervate the entry site (268). Some neurons undergo productive (lytic) infection while other neurons retain the virus in a dormant (latent) state (268). HSV can remain latent for the lifetime of the host. HSV may also be reactivated and transported to or near the initial site of infection (65). Lytic gene expression is repressed during latency (84). Viral-encoded proteins are essential for the efficient reactivation of HSV from latency (268).

HSV-associated diseases are among the most widespread infections (256). HSV type 1 (HSV-1) is the prototype alphaherpesvirus and primarily causes extragenital or oral infections (34). HSV type 2 (HSV-2) is primarily associated with infection of the anogenital region. Although a significant percentage of primary herpes infections are subclinical, HSV infections are still an important public health concern (256). HSV infection affects approximately 60% to 95% of adults worldwide (34). It is estimated that 50 million Americans are infected with HSV-2 (99). Recent studies have shown an increase in HSV-2 causing extragenital infections and in HSV-1 causing anogenital infection (34). HSV infection is normally localized to the mucosal sites and dorsal root ganglia but disseminated infection can be a threat to immunocompromised individuals and neonates (99). HSV is the common cause of sporadic encephalitis worldwide. HSV is the most common virus to infect the human brain. Ocular HSV infection is the second most common cause of blindness worldwide (34). HSV-2 neonatal infections have an incidence of 1 in 3,000 to 1 in 20,000 births per year in the United States.

Acyclovir, an inhibitor of HSV DNA replication, is the most widely used antiviral for HSV infections (34, 256). Acyclovir-resistant strains can develop in immunocompromised patients (34). Foscarnet and Cidofovir, also DNA replication inhibitors, are used for treatment of HSV infections resistant to Acyclovir. Management of HSV infections does not rid the host of virus. Current antivirals can only prevent transmission, suppress recurrence and attenuate clinical



www.manaraa.com

3

course and viral shedding (256). There is currently no approved vaccine for general administration. Thus, HSV-1 and HSV-2 remain serious human pathogens that are important to study.

2. Virion structure

HSV is a multilayered particle with an overall diameter of approximately 200 nm. Virions are composed of four key structural components: a genome, capsid, tegument and envelope (Fig. I.). Virions are comprised of more than 40 distinct proteins (180).

The HSV genome is a linear double-stranded DNA molecule (Fig. II.). It contains 150 kilobase pairs with a G+C content of 67% (HSV-1) or 74% (HSV-2) (191). The DNA genome is divided into two covalently linked segments, designated long (L) and short (S) (190). Each segment contains unique sequences (U_L and U_S) flanked by a pair of inverted repeats. L and S segments can be inverted relative to one another, yielding four possible genome arrangements. The HSV genome has been sequenced and contains 74 different protein-encoding genes, although more have been suggested due to gene crowding (68, 190, 191, 231).

The capsid is a protein shell with a approximate thickness of 15 nm and 125 nm diameter (143). Seven different proteins can compose the capsid, arranged on a icosahedral surface lattice (247). VP5 is the major structural protein of the 12 pentons and 150 hexons. The capsid therefore is comprised of a total of 960 copies of VP5.

A proteinaceous layer resides between the capsid and the envelope. This tegument layer contains more than 20 viral proteins and is asymmetrically structured in extracellular





Figure I. Herpes simplex virus structural elements. Shown is the structure, as determined by cryo-electron tomography reconstruction, of the herpes simplex virion (122). The capsid, tegument, envelope and glycoprotein structures are indicated.





Figure II. HSV genome structure. The long and short unique regions (U_L and U_S) are flanked by inverted repeat regions (blue boxes). The approximate map locations of the genes encoding tegument proteins discussed in the thesis are shown.



virions (180). It is currently thought that these proteins act as viral regulators to mediate activities during viral entry and prior to viral gene expression (212).

The host cell-derived envelope consists of host lipids and polyamines and accommodates approximately 12 viral glycoproteins (113). The glycoproteins, visualized as spikes by cryoelectron microscopy, are arrayed in dense clusters around the tegumented region and are sparsely populated in other regions (122). They also vary in straightness, angles and whether they are organized as homo- or hetero-oligomers (122, 127).

3. Infectious cycle

The reproduction cycle of HSV has been extensively studied using cell culture models. Envelope glycoproteins mediate attachment, binding to cell receptors and fusion of the viral envelope with a host membrane (134) (Fig. III.). The virus can then penetrate into the cytoplasm of the cell. Capsids are rapidly transported to the nucleus via dynein interaction and movement on cellular microtubules (67, 252). Capsid docking at the nuclear pore complex (NPC) results in the release of the viral genome (12, 217). The nucleus is the site where viral transcription of genes, genome replication and capsid assembly occur.

HSV gene expression is a temporally regulated cascade of events. Gene expression begins when VP16 is released from the tegument and enters the nucleus to induce the transcription of immediate-early (IE) (α) genes (118, 169, 272). Several α proteins, including ICP4 and ICP0, act as transactivators for the transcription of early (E) (β) and late (L) (γ) HSV genes (58, 84). The β gene products include proteins that are involved in nucleic acid metabolism. Viral DNA synthesis is thought to proceed by a rolling circle mechanism (232). Several viral



7



Figure III. HSV infection of a model neuronal cell. HSV attaches, binds and fuses with the cell membrane (1.). The capsid binds to microtubules and is transported to the nuclear pore (2.), where the virus releases its genome (3). Virus gene expression and DNA replication occurs in the nucleus (4.). Genomes are packaged into empty nucleocapsids (5.). Viruses bud into the inner nuclear membrane and form a primary envelope (6.). The virus then fuses with the outer nuclear membrane and releases the capsid into the cytosol (7.). The maturation of virions occurs when tegumented virions bud into glycoprotein containing vesicles of the trans-Golgi network (TGN) (8.) and form a secondary enveloped virion (9.). Mature virions are released at the cell surface (9.).



genes are necessary and sufficient for HSV DNA replication (218). These include a DNA polymerase (pU_L30), DNA polymerase cofactor (pU_L42), an origin binding protein (pU_L9), a single-stranded DNA-binding protein (ICP8) and a helicase-primase complex (pU_L5 , pU_L8 , and pU_L52) (49, 117). With the onset of DNA replication, the γ genes, encoding virion structural proteins, are expressed.

The newly synthesized viral glycoproteins localize to the cell surface and the inner nuclear membrane (INM) (232). Current studies have shown VP1-2 and VP16 presence and absence from the primary enveloped virions in the nucleus (24, 174, 201, 210). Whether tegument proteins are added to primary enveloped virions or solely to secondary enveloped virions is still unclear. The products of DNA synthesis are head-to-tail concatemers, which are cleaved into unit-length genomes and packaged into preformed nucleocapsids (147, 267).

In the 'envelopment-deenvelopment-reenvelopment' model, virions leave the nucleus by budding at the INM, forming a primary envelope, which is followed by virions fusing with the outer nuclear membrane (ONM) (198). After fusion, capsids are released into the cytoplasm, the site of virion maturation. Tegument is acquired and virions bud into glycoprotein containing vesicles of the TGN, forming a secondary enveloped virion. In permissive cells, the HSV life cycle, from entry to viral spread to neighboring cells, takes approximately 18 to 20 hours (237).

4. HSV entry

HSV entry is a multistep process that engages the host cell machinery in a coordinated fashion (254). Viral entry can be broadly defined as all events leading to the deposition of the



uncoated virus genome into the nucleus. HSV can enter cells by multiple routes (Fig. IV.). HSV can utilize either the endocytic or nonendocytic pathways for productive entry into host cells (214). Regardless of the entry pathway, glycoprotein B (gB), glycoprotein H (gH), glycoprotein (gL) and glycoprotein D (gD) are required for entry.

When introduced to target cells, HSV attaches to cell surface molecules. Both glycoprotein C (gC) and gB can mediate attachment to heparan sulfate moieties of cell surface proteoglycans, although this is not essential for entry (10, 136, 137).

gD binding to a cognate receptor is an essential step during HSV entry (253) (Fig. IV. 1.). gD can bind to Nectin-1 and Nectin-2, which belong to the immunoglobulin-like cell adhesion superfamily (111). gD can also interact with the tumor necrosis factor receptor-like herpesvirus entry mediator (HVEM) and specific sites on heparan sulfate generated by certain 3-Osulfotransferases (202, 251). Upon receptor binding, it is suggested that the C-terminus of gD is displaced and activates the viral fusion machinery (107, 134, 280). Paired immunoglobulin-like type 2 receptor α (PILR α) is a cellular receptor of gB that appears to function in collaboration with gD receptors (245). Viral determinants, cellular gD-receptors, and the background of the target cell all seem to contribute toward the selection of entry pathway used by HSV (54, 70, 238).

gB and gH have been reported to play an important role in viral membrane fusion (30, 102, 262) (Fig. IV. 2.). Several studies suggest that gB functions as a fusion protein and the fusion loops at the base of gB protomers are important for its function (128, 129, 135). Recent studies suggest that low pH-induced conformational changes in gB, together with additional triggers, may be important for viral fusion during endocytosis (69). gB seems to require gH/gL interaction and function following gB fusion loop insertion into the host membrane (8).





Figure IV. HSV entry pathways. On the left is the endocytic pathway or pH-dependent pathway. In this pathway, virions are taken up by cellular vesicles and then escape the endocytic pathway at a vesicle of the appropriate low pH. On the right is the nonendocytic pathway or pH-independent pathway. In this pathway, virions fuse directly with the plasma membrane. Once virions penetrate into the cytoplasm, they are transported to the nucleus, where they dock and release their genome. Model cell lines for each pathway are indicated at the bottom in parentheses. For HSV pathogenesis, our lab has proposed that the endocytic and nonendocytic pathways are used for distinct cell types, as indicated at the bottom (213). Numbers indicate the entry steps of HSV: 1. Binding, 2. Penetration/Fusion, 3. Capsid transport 4. Gene expression.



Endocytic uptake of virions is required for entry of HSV into v cells and epithelial cells, e.g. keratinocytes (213, 214) (Fig. IV. left). CHO cells are inherently resistant to HSV infection (215). Thus expression of gD receptors, such as HveA (HVEM), nectin-1, or nectin-2, are necessary for efficient entry and infection (111, 202). In CHO-nectin-1 cells, capsid uptake is rapid and half of input virus escapes the endocytic machinery by ~30 minutes (min) (215). Cellular phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity facilitates endocytic trafficking of HSV and notably is not required for HSV entry via the direct penetration at the cell surface.

In cell types such as neuronal or Vero cells, HSV penetrates directly through the plasma membrane and releases capsids into the cytosol (166, 213) (Fig. IV. right). In Vero cells, capsid penetration occurs within minutes and is complete by ~30 min (166, 214, 252)

After the viral envelope fuses, the bulk of the tegument appears to remain with the cell membrane (188). The HSV capsid that is released into the cytosol utilizes the minus-end-directed motor complex dynein/dynactin to travel on microtubules to the nuclear periphery (67, 252) (Fig. IV. 3.). Capsids then dock at the nuclear pore and release their DNA genome into the nucleus, the site of replication for herpesviruses (Fig. IV. 4.).

B. HSV TEGUMENT LAYER

All herpesviruses have the tegument layer between the capsid and envelope (198) (Table II.). The tegument layer is composed of mainly viral proteins. Based on the number of peptides detected by mass spectrometry, the tegument layer makes up more than half the virion (180). In extracellular herpes simplex virus, the tegument layer is asymmetrical (122, 212). At late times postinfection (p.i.), the HSV tegument undergoes a change from a symmetrical organized tegument layer that is sensitive to detergent removal to an asymmetrical tegument layer that is



HSV-1		Gene conserved in Herpesvirinae				
Tegument	t subfamily					
protein	alpha	beta	gamma			
pUL7	YES	YES	YES			
pUL11	YES	YES	YES			
pUL13	YES	YES	YES			
pUL14	YES	YES	YES			
pUL16	YES	YES	YES			
pUL21	YES	YES	YES			
pUL23	YES	No	YES			
VP1/2	YES	YES	YES			
pUL37	YES	YES	YES			
VHS	YES	No	No			
VP11/12	YES	No	No			
VP13/14	YES	No	No			
VP16	YES	No	No			
VP22	YES	No	No			
pUL50	YES	No	No			
pUL51	YES	YES	YES			
pUL55	YES	No	No			
pUS2	No	No	No			
pUS3	YES	No	No			
pUS10	No	No	No			
pUS11	No	No	No			
ICP34.5	No	No	No			
ICP0	YES	No	No			
ICP4	YES	No	No			

Table II. Conservation of HSV-1 tegument proteins

Bold indicates protein identified in virions by mass spectroscopy.

Table modified from (157).



resistant to tegument removal. This causes the capsid to be separated from the envelope by 30 to 35 nm of tegument on one side of the virion (122). It is currently thought that the virus carries these viral regulators to mediate activities prior to gene expression (212). Tegument proteins also have key roles in viral gene expression and egress of mature virions.

1. Composition and structure

In the mature herpes virion, there are 23 potential viral proteins and at most 49 host proteins in the tegument layer (180) (Table III.). The host proteins found in virions are expected to be in low abundance and their functions are currently unknown. The predominant viral proteins, more than 800 copies per virion, are VP16, VP22 and UL47 (131, 180). In contrast, VP1-2, UL37 (pUL37), ICP0 and ICP4 proteins are found in lower abundance, 100 copies or less, in virions (131, 180, 275, 276).

The tegument can be divided into inner and outer tegument proteins; a designation that is often based on the ease of experimental detergent removal of tegument proteins from mature virions (184, 203). By structural analysis, inner tegument proteins are icosahedrally arranged, centered on the capsid pentons (283). VP1-2 protein is suggested to be in the inner, capsid-associated part of the tegument layer due to the interaction with capsid bound pUL25 (48). Another inner tegument protein, pUL37 protein, interacts with the N-terminus of VP1-2 (200).

While VP1-2 and pUL37 are present in stoichiometric amounts, the amount of outer tegument proteins appears to vary (45). The link between the tegument layer and the virion envelope is thought to mainly depend on pUL11 and the internal domains of gD, gH and gE (97, 153, 278). Currently, VP16 is thought to be the link between inner and outer tegument proteins (206).



14

Tegument protein ^a	t Required for growth ^b	Previously described ^c	Functions and potential roles	
pUL7	NE	No	Regulates a mitochondrial function during egress	
pUL11	NE	Yes	Secondary envelopment	
pUL13	NE	Yes	Protein kinase, tegument release, regulates	
			pUS3, inhibits IFN response	
pUL14	NE	Yes	Nuclear import, regulates apoptosis,	
			nuclear targeting of VP16 and capsids	
pUL16	NE	Yes	Secondary envelopment	
pUL21	NE	Yes	Secondary envelopment, regulates microtubule	
			assembly	
pUL23	NE	No	Thymidine kinase, viral DNA replication	
VP1/2	E	Yes	Capsid transport, secondary envelopment,	
			release of viral DNA, DUB activity	
pUL37	E	Yes	Secondary envelopment, regulates viral	
			replication	
VHS	NE	Yes	Regulates translation and immune response	
VP11/12	NE	Yes	Regulates pUL48-dependent transcription	
VP13/14	NE	Yes	Secondary envelopment, regulates	
			pUL48-dependent transcription	
VP16	E	Yes	Secondary envelopment, regulates viral	
			transcription	
VP22	NE	Yes	Secondary envelopment, regulates microtubule	
			assembly	
pUL50	NE	No	dUTPase, viral DNA replication	
pUL51	NE	Yes	Secondary envelopment	
pUL55	NE	No	Unknown	
pUS2	NE	Yes	Unknown	
pUS3	NE	Yes	Protein kinase, primary deenvelopment, tegument	
			release, regulates actin assembly and apoptosis	
pUS10	NE	Yes	Unknown	
pUS11	NE	Yes	Regulates host translation, capsid transport	
ICP34.5	NE	Yes	Regulates host translation, viral DNA	
_	_		replication, and immune response	
ICP0	NE	Yes	Regulates capsid transport	
ICP4	E	Yes	Regulates viral transcription	

Table III. Properties and functions of HSV-1 tegument proteins



^a Identified HSV-1 in virions by mass spectroscopy (180).

^b Essential (E) or Nonessential (NE).

^c Based on studies prior to mass spectroscopy study (199, 237).

Table modified from (157).



2. Functional properties

Although knowledge of virion associated proteins has been broadened in recent years, the complete composition of the tegument layer awaits more comprehensive characterization (180). A few of the HSV tegument proteins have distinct functions during HSV infection, but the majority of the tegument proteins have potential functions or unclear mechanisms. Several studies suggest that tegument proteins play multiple roles throughout HSV infection.

a. Pre-immediate early events

Upon binding to a cellular receptor, there appears to be a transmission of a signal across the virus envelope causing tegument rearrangement (194). UL16 is capsid-associated in extracellular viruses and upon viral binding to cellular receptors UL16 is released from capsids (194, 198). This restructuring could prepare the tegument for release into the cytosol following viral fusion.

Virion host shutoff (VHS) protein of HSV is an RNase that degrades mRNA species (101, 168, 234). VHS is synthesized late in infection but is also found in the tegument layer of virions (101, 168). Thus VHS can immediately perform its functions following viral fusion.

In vitro and *in vivo*, inner tegument proteins promote capsid motility (183, 270). VP1-2 and pUL37 remain associated with capsids during the microtubule transport of capsids to the NPC. VP1-2 was shown to be required for capsid motility (183). While pUL37 is not essential for capsid transport, it is required for efficient transport (167, 183). However, no functional interaction between inner tegument proteins and cellular motor proteins have been identified (198).



17

After capsids are transported on microtubules, they bind to the NPC. VP1-2 has been suggested to play a role in the process due to the study of a temperature sensitive VP1-2 mutant, *ts*b7. At nonpermissive temperature, *ts*b7 capsids bind to the NPC but do not release their DNA (12). In a recent report, VP1-2 was shown to undergo cleavage after docking at the NPC, which was essential for DNA release (148).

b. HSV gene expression

Following viral penetration and release of tegument proteins, VP16 forms a complex with cellular cofactor HCF-1 (169). This allows for subsequent interaction with OCT-1 and assembly onto HSV IE promoters (272). OCT-1 is essential at low multiplicity of infection (MOI) while HCF-1 is key for IE gene expression (211, 216). The acidic C-terminal domain of VP16 is important for recruitment of host RNA polymerase II and initiation components (118). Viral transactivators and tegument proteins ICP0 and ICP4 may also aid in stimulation of IE gene expression but this has yet to be determined.

c. Primary envelopment and nuclear egress

After capsid assembly in the nucleus, the virus buds into the INM. HSV tegument pUL31 and pUL34 are required and sufficient for the budding process at the INM (164). Cellular and viral kinases are also recruited by pUL31 and pUL34 to disrupt nuclear lamins and allow for viral contact with the INM (207, 221). pUL34 is integrated into the primary envelope of virions interacting with tegument pUL31 but neither are included in mature virions (198).

The mechanism of fusion of the primary envelope at the ONM is currently unclear (198). pUL31 and pUL34 also appear to be involved in the deenvelopment stage (164). Mutagenesis



studies have also suggested that gB, gH and inner tegument protein pUS3 kinase may also be involved in HSV nuclear egress (98, 154). The phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic domain of gB seems to be important for this process (154).

d. Egress

Like entry, VP1-2 is required for capsid transport during egress (183). VP1-2 may also be involved in vesicular transport of secondary enveloped virions (250). In contrast to entry, UL37 is essential for egress and secondary envelopment since deletion of UL37 blocks formation of mature virions (61). How directionality is selected, dynein-mediated for entry and kinesinmediated for egress, has yet to be determined.

pUL11, pUL20 and gK, all seem to play an important role in secondary envelopment. Deletion of UL11 results in cytoplasmic aggregates of capsids that contain tegument-like material (106). pUL11 localizes to TGN membranes (9). Due to this localization, the known interaction between pUL11 and tegument pUL16 might facilitate binding of tegumented capsids to TGN membranes (106, 177). pUL20 and gK are essential for cytoplasmic virion morphogenesis, since deletion of either protein results in cytoplasmic virions unable to acquire the secondary envelope (106). pUL11 functions are dependent on the functions of pUL20 and gK, that occur earlier in egress.

C. INFECTED CELL PROTEIN 0

HSV infected cell protein 0 (ICP0) is a 110-kDa multifunctional phosphoprotein expressed with IE kinetics (1, 84) (Table IV.). Although, ICP0 is not essential for infection, it is needed for efficient progression to lytic infection (84, 125, 242, 257). ICP0 null viruses exhibit a



Virus	Activation ^a	Growth Efficiency ^a	ND10 Disruption ^a	Colocalize Conjugated Ubiquitin <i>in</i> <i>vivo</i> ^b	E3 Activity in vitro ^c	ICP0 in Tegument ^d
17+	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++
FXE	-	-	-	-	-	-
K144E	-	-	-	-	+++	- /+
N151D	-/ +	-	+	+	+++	+++

Table IV. Functional properties of ICP0 proteins

^a Activation was determined by measuring the induction of chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) activity after cotransfection of a UL39 promoter-CAT plasmid and a plasmid-

expressing an ICP0 protein. Growth efficiency was measured using single-step growth curves. Cells were infected with the desired virus, harvested at various times and then titered. ND10 disruption ability was determined by transfection of plasmids-expressing ICP0 proteins and detecting PML by immunoflouresence microscopy (78).

^b Colocalizing conjugated ubiquitin was the ability of the ICP0 protein expressed by plasmid to induce increased conjugated ubiquitin staining as detetected by immunoflouresence microscopy *in vivo* (83).

^c E3 ligase activity was the ability of the ICP0 protein expressed by plasmid to stimulate the production polyubiquitin chains *in vitro* (21).

^d ICP0 in the tegument was the ICP0 content of extracellular virus detected by Western blot (56).


reduction in infectivity and have similar particle numbers to wild type (WT) (257). This gives ICP0 null viruses a higher particle/PFU ratio than WT. ICP0 null viruses also exhibit a growth defect at low-multiplicity but can replicate efficiently at a high input multiplicity (242, 257). ICP0 is also needed for efficient reactivation from latency (229, 244, 257). It has been proposed that ICP0 might be a regulator in the switch between productive infection and latent infection (28, 175). ICP0 inhibits the antiviral response to cellular interferons and may help the virus bypass innate cellular repression pathways (125, 205). Bovine herpesvirus 1 (BHV-1), Equine herpes virus 1 (EHV-1), Pseudorabies virus (PRV) and Varicella Zoster virus (VZV) also express ICP0-related proteins (222).

1. Structural properties of newly expressed infected cell protein 0

Through mutagenesis studies, the N-terminal zinc-binding domain, a nuclear localization signal (NLS) and the C-terminal sequence were found to be important for many of the ICP0 functions (80, 82) (Fig. V.).

The structure of the C₃HC₄ motif or RING finger domain of equine herpes virus EICP0 was solved with two-dimensional H-NMR (11) (Fig. VI.). The RING finger domain contains an amphipathic α - helix that spans the length of the triple-stranded β -sheet. Four pairs of metalbinding residues sequester two zinc atoms and form an interleaving structure. Site-directed mutagenesis has shown that the α -helix is important for transactivation activities of ICP0 (11, 78). At the time, mutagenesis studies and the structure of the RING finger domain led investigators to believe that ICP0 family members bound DNA like classical RING domains (11). Later studies demonstrated that ICP0 belongs to the E3 ubiquitin ligase RING finger group (21).





Figure V. ICP0 domains. A map of the 775-amino acid (aa) ICP0 protein, demonstrating the identified structural domains (84). Phosphorylation sites (blue) indicate three phosphorylated regions that have 11 putative phosphorylation sites (19, 52). RING finger domain (yellow) has the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity (11, 21). The NLS (orange) has the nuclear localization signal (80, 208). The USP7 binding domain (purple) is required for USP7 interactions (92, 196). The C-terminal sequence (red) is required for localization to ND10 and also required for incorporation into tegument of mature virions (80, 184, 196). Oligomerization sequences (upper bracket) indicate the domain that is required for self-multimerization (44, 196). The residue numbers of N-terminal and C-terminal portions of the protein are indicated.





Figure VI. RING finger domain protein structure. A ribbon diagram showing the folding of the EICP0 RING finger domain of equine herpes virus. Zinc atoms are shown in blue. The zinc binding residues are represented as "ball-and-stick" (11).



Towards the center of the protein, a short 7-amino acid (aa) basic motif in ICP0 specifies the nuclear localization (80, 208). The last 125 aa of the ICP0 C-terminus function as an intranuclear localization site (80, 196). The C-terminal region of ICP0 is also important for ICP0s incorporation into the tegument layer (184).

Early studies suggested that ICP0 is dynamically phosphorylated (1). Three phosphorylation sites on ICP0 were identified and they were found to influence the localization, ND10 dispersal, stability, and transactivation characteristics of ICP0 (19, 52). However, the three phosphorylation sites do not appear to influence ICP0s E3 ubiquitin ligase activity *in vitro* (19).

During HSV infection, ICP0 strongly binds, using aa 593-633, to a cellular ubiquitinspecific protease enzyme USP7 (HAUSP) (92, 196). Interacting with USP7 protects ICP0 from auto-ubiquitination *in vitro* and proteasome-dependent degradation during infection (32). Although ICP0 and USP7 interaction can lead to ubiquitination and proteasome-dependent degradation of USP7, the stabilization of ICP0 seems to be the dominant function of the interaction (18). ICP0 can also form dimers and oligomers, using C-terminal aa 617-711, during HSV infection (44, 196). Both USP7 and oligomer formation seem to be important for HSV infection (196).

2. Functional properties of newly expressed infected cell protein 0

There are now numerous studies on IE ICP0 but the fundamental details of its functions are still unanswered. The link between *in vitro* ICP0 E3 ligase activity and *in vivo* activity has yet to be demonstrated. ICP0 E3 ligase activities have been suggested to repel the cellular response to HSV infection and help prepare for gene expression but still there is no direct



evidence. If ICP0 does have E3 ligase activity in vivo, then the identity of target substrates will have to found. Even so, ICP0 activities during infection and incorporation into the tegument layer have been extensively characterized.

a. Gene expression

ICP0 has been described as a promiscuous transactivator of viral and cellular genes (84, 85, 230). This is due to ICP0 being able to activate transcription from HSV or heterologous promoters independently of cis-elements (29, 93, 114, 125, 189). ICP0 appears to play a limited role in IE expression and a more prominent role in enhancing E and L expression (29). However, in the absence of viral proteins, ICP0 is required for maximum IE expression.

ICP4 is expressed with IE kinetics and is a major transactivator of early and late genes (58). ICP0 activates transcription of viral genes independently or in synergy with ICP4 (79, 85, 110, 230). ICP0 and ICP4 interact and this interaction is believed to have a synergistic effect on gene expression (110, 230).

b. E3 ligase activity

The ICP0 RING finger domain functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase in vitro (21). The ICP0 RING finger is important for inducing the accumulation of conjugated ubiquitin at ND10 and centromeres *in vivo* (83). Newly synthesized ICP0 induces the proteasome-dependent degradation of ND10 components Promyelocytic leukemia (PML) and Sp100, centromere proteins CENP-A, CENP-B, and CENP-C, the catalytic subunit of DNA-PK, and p53 (20, 35, 88, 89, 176, 223). The induction of degradation is dependent on the RING finger domain of ICP0. This provides additional evidence that ICP0 may function as an E3 ubiquitin ligase *in vivo*



(20). Other alphaherpesvirus members have ICP0-related proteins that have E3 ubiquitin ligase activity *in vitro* and inhibit recruitment of ND10 proteins to HSV replication sites (86).

c. ND10 disruption

The cellular nucleus has an average of 10 subdomains, called ND10, with a diameter of $0.3 - 0.5 \mu m$ (7). PML and SP100 are major components of ND10 (108, 259). ND10 might be involved in such processes as cellular chromatin structure, transcription, and DNA repair (16). Early in infection, ICP0 can be found in discrete nuclear sites using immunofluorescence microscopy (82). The ICP0 foci are adjacent but separate from the replication compartments that include the HSV genome, ICP8, VP13/14 and VP22 (146, 187). These ICP0 foci colocalize with ND10, although, this colocalization is transient since the staining of ND10 is subsequently lost (186). The RING finger domain of ICP0 is required for the disruption of ND10 and degradation of PML; however, the C-terminal region is required for ND10 interaction (89, 185).

The disruption of ND10 structures is thought to facilitate HSV gene expression (187). The current hypothesis is that ND10 might be an intrinsic cellular antiviral response and have a repressive effect on gene expression (94). The depletion of PML and/or SP100 increases the infectivity of ICP0-null viruses (94, 95). However, ICP0-null virus is still not complemented to WT levels, suggesting that other factors may be involved in the repression mechanism. Interferon (IFN) is used as a cellular antiviral response and has been shown to increase PML expression (36, 171). ICP0-null virus is more sensitive than WT virus to IFN pretreatment of cells (130, 205).



3. Properties of tegument infected cell protein 0

Although initially defined as proteins expressed exclusively by the infected cell, ICP0 and ICP4 are detected in the virion tegument by Western blotting and mass spectrometry but not by protein staining (72, 74, 180, 219, 248, 255, 274-276, 282). Some properties of tegument ICP0 have been evaluated. Newly expressed ICP0 is localized in the nucleus early in infection (1, 90). Later in infection, IE ICP0 relocalizes to discrete cytoplasmic domains, where ICP0 may be incorporated into virions (74, 156, 178, 248). Cytoplasmic localization of ICP0 does not seem to be sufficient for incorporation into virions (184). In the absence of VP22, ICP0 is translocated to the cytoplasm but is not incorporated into virions (74, 184). Recently, it was found that ICP0 incorporation into virions correlates with the ability of ICP0 to form a complex with VP22 (184). IE protein ICP27 has also been suggested to be required for the cytoplasmic localization and incorporation of ICP0 and ICP4 into mature virions (248). Prior to the data presented here, the role of ICP0 in virion assembly was not known. The position of ICP0 in the tegument layer had not been characterized. Little was known about the ICP0 that is brought in with the infecting virion. It was not clear whether tegument ICP0 functions in a manner similar to its IE counterpart.

D. UBIQUITIN-PROTEASOME SYSTEM

Due to the high content of proteases, the lysosome was assumed to be the main site of proteolysis (53). Support for another proteolytic system came with the discovery of a cell extract containing an ATP-dependent and non-membrane-associated cellular proteolytic system that functioned at neutral pH (77). A component of the cell extract, ATP-dependent proteolysis factor-1 (APF1), was found to be conjugated to target substrates when incubated with the other



fractions and ATP (42, 139). APF1 was later shown to be ubiquitin, an 76 aa cellular protein that is added to substrates in order to target their degradation (41). The final component of this nonlysosomal system came with the discovery of a high molecular weight protease that degrades only ubiquitin tagged substrates in an ATP-dependent manner (144). This protease would later be known as the cellular proteasome. The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) is currently known to be critical for maintenance of cell homeostasis, regulating processes such as cell cycle, apoptosis and antigen presentation (116, 163). The cellular proteasome also functions nonproteolytically during transcription, DNA repair, and chromatin remodeling (59).

1. Cellular proteasome

The 26S proteasome is an approximately 2.5 MDa cylindrical, multisubunit complex found in the cytosol and nucleus of cells (246) (Fig. VII.).

The cellular proteasome is responsible for degrading regulatory and misfolded proteins. It is composed of three complexes, a 20S catalytic core and two 19S regulatory complexes (Fig. VII.). The 20S catalytic core is composed of four heptameric rings that are stacked on top of each other, forming the hollow cylinder structure (120, 181). The two outer rings are comprised of seven different α -subunits while the inner rings contain seven different β -subunits (133). The four heptameric rings enclose three chambers, two fore chambers between the α -and β -rings and a central proteolytic chamber between the β -rings (120). The proteolytic active sites of the 20S core are on β -subunits and face the interior chamber of the cylinder structure. The entrance to the fore chamber is autoinhibited by the N-terminal tails of the α -ring subunits (119). Binding of the regulatory particle relieves the block imposed by the α -subunit N-terminal tails.

Three β -subunits demonstrate proteolytic activity: $\beta 1$, $\beta 2$ and $\beta 5$ (Fig. VII.). Each of the





Figure VII. 26S and 20S proteasome structure. On the left, a representation of the 26S particle composed of a 20S catalytic core and two 19S regulatory complexes. The 20S catalytic core is composed of four rings of α -subunits and β -subunits stacked on top of each other. The 19S regulatory complex is composed of a base (B) and a lid (L). On the right, a cross-section of the 20S catalytic core showing the location of the three active sites.



three β -subunits has a different proteolytic activity (5, 132). β 2 cleaves after hydrophobic residues and is described as having a chymotrypsin-like activity. β 5 has a trypsin-like activity that preferentially cleaves after basic residues. β 1 cleaves bonds after acidic residues. All of the proteolytic sites in the 20S catalytic core utilize a unique catalytic mechanism, where a Nterminal threonine is used for catalysis (249) (Fig. VIII.). Proteins degraded by the proteasome are released as oligopeptides, ranging between 3 and 24 residues (3, 161).

The 19S regulatory particle or PA700 is also a multisubunit complex (39). 19S seems to be involved in substrate recognition, unfolding and translocation of target substrates and controlling access to the proteolytic channel (22, 63, 119). The 19S subunit can be divided into base and lid components (115). The 19S base has a ring-like structure and has been shown to have ATPase activity. The ATPase component of 19S base, which regulates the opening to the proteasome, also controls the length of peptide products (165). Interferon- γ induces the formation of immunoproteasomes that have an alternate regulatory cap, 11S, and three different β -subunits (2, 13, 104, 235). This complex is believed to generate larger amounts of antigenic peptide for MHC class I presentation (15, 258).

2. Ubiquitin machinery

Ubiquitination is the covalent modification of cellular proteins with 8-kDa ubiquitin protein(s). Target substrates are modified with ubiquitin by a series of proteins, the El ubiquitinactivating enzyme, E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes, and E3 ubiquitin-protein ligases (141) (Fig. IX.). The formation of the isopeptide bond between an ubiquitin molecule and the target





Figure VIII. 20S catalytic mechanism. Target substrate is in black, proteasome N-terminal residue is in light blue and bonds formed during catalysis are in purple (163).





Figure IX. Overview of the ubiquitin-proteasome system. Three enzymes are required for adding ubiquitin (UB) to target substrates: E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme, E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme and E3 ubiquitin-protein ligating enzyme. E1 activates ubiquitin in an ATP-dependent manner while E3 recognizes the substrate. One ubiquitination cycle results in a monoubiquitinated substrate. The process can be repeated to form a polyubiquitin chain. The polyubiquitin chain allows for recognition by the 19S regulatory unit and subsequent degradation by the 20S catalytic core.



substrate requires ATP in order to activate the C-terminal carboxyl group of ubiquitin (43, 124). The activated ubiquitin molecule is transferred from E1 to thiol site of one of a family of E2 enzymes (226). The target substrate is bound by E3 ubiquitin ligases, which mediate the transfer of ubiquitin to a lysine residue on the substrate protein (141). E3 confers substrate specificity by recognizing and binding target proteins (142). There are thousands of cellular E3 ubiquitin ligases, each one specific for certain substrates (149). Some E2 enzymes, however, can transfer ubiquitin directly to target proteins, independently of E3 (37, 123). Deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) participate in the UPS by removing ubiquitin from inappropriately targeted proteins, recycling of ubiquitin from ubiquitin tagged proteins and disassembly of unanchored polyubiquitin chains (4, 170).

E3 ubiquitin ligases can be divided into two classes: Those homologous to the E6-AP Carboxyl Terminus (HECT) E3 ubiquitin ligases and Really Interesting New Gene (RING) E3 ubiquitin ligases (158). With the HECT ubiquitin ligase system, ubiquitin is transferred from E2 to E3 ligases and finally from E3 ligases to the target substrate. RING ubiquitin ligases play a more passive role, since ubiquitin is transferred directly from E2 to the target substrate. However, RING ligase activity can be regulated by phosphorylation, ubiquitination, and pseudosubstrates (62). C_3HC_4 or RING "finger" domains use conserved cysteine and histidine residues to bind to two zinc atoms and stabilize the structure (11, 17, 62). The zinc atoms in the RING domain are interleaved, hence "finger", to maintain a platform for protein-protein interaction.

The best understood function of ubiquitin modification is for selective protein degradation. The majority of proteins destined for proteasomal degradation are tagged with chains of ubiquitin (138). The minimal signal necessary for proteasomal recognition is a chain of



four ubiquitin molecules (260). The signal strength appears to increases with the number of tetraubiquitin units. E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes seem to be at the heart of polyubiquitination by regulating the length and topology of the chain and processivity of chain formation (277). Typically, the α -carboxyl group of ubiquitin glycine-76 forms an isopeptide bond with the ε -amino group of lysine residue of the target substrate (26). Ubiquitin can also be added to the N-terminal residues or cysteines of cellular proteins (27, 40). In the classical view, multiubiquitin chains are formed with additional ubiquitin monomers being added to the lysine-48 of previous ubiquitin modifications (33, 140). However, each ubiquitin molecule has seven lysines, which allows for polyubiquitin chains to form through alternative linkages (243). Proteins can also be monoubiquitinated and this modification is important for regulation of histone function, in DNA repair pathways and in intracellular transport of membrane proteins (204).

3. Targeting a protein for the proteasome

Degrons are degradation signals on the target substrate that allow for UPS and/ or proteasome recognition (246).

The degrons necessary for ubiquitin machinery recognition involve N-degrons, posttranslational modifications and protein folding. The N-degron involves those proteins that have an N-terminal destabilizing residue and an accessible lysine for ubiquitination (265). Posttranslation modifications such as phosphorylation of specific serine and cysteine residues, hydroxylation of specific prolyl residues and glycosylation can target proteins for proteasomal degradation. Specific cellular chaperones can be used to recognize misfolded proteins and position them for ubiquitination.



The degrons necessary for proteasomal recognition and degradation involve the ubiquitin signal and unstructured regions. Ubiquitinated proteins are fairly stable unless they contain an unstructured region (228). The unstructured region in these proteins serves as an initiation site for proteasomal degradation. Typically the ubiquitin signal and the unstructured region are on the same protein, however, ubiquitination and unstructured regions can work *in trans* when separated onto different interacting proteins (227).

An ubiquitin-independent pathway can also degrade target proteins. In some circumstances, an unstructured region can serve as an initiation site by itself, in the absence of ubiquitin (246). Alternatively targeting can occur through a *trans* mechanism, where an ubiquitinated adaptor shuttles the substrate to the proteasome and the unstructured region of the substrate signals for degradation (14, 51, 227, 233). Although the adaptor would bind to the proteasome, it avoids degradation because the protein lacks a strong unstructured region (227).

4. Proteasomal inhibitors

Inhibitors have been a vital tool for understanding the unique proteolytic mechanism of the 20S catalytic core (249). Inhibitors of proteases are typically composed of a short peptide linked to a pharmacophore, a structure that interacts with enzymatic active sites and blocks its biological activity (163). The short peptide of these compounds associates with the substrate binding site. Inhibitors do not have to block all protease active sites in order to be effective. For example, inhibition or mutation of the chymotrypsin site causes a large reduction in protein breakdown while inhibition of the trypsin- or caspase-like sites has had little effect on overall proteolysis (5, 132, 160, 236).



Peptide aldehydes were the first group of proteasomal inhibitors and still are the most widely used (236, 266) (Fig. X.). Although these inhibitors bind slowly to the 20S chymotrypsin-like site, they still have a high degree of selectivity and potency for the chymotrypsin-like activity (266). These inhibitors can also inhibit cysteine and serine proteases. Due to fast dissociation rates and oxidation into inactive acids in cells, the effects of these inhibitors can be reversed upon removal of inhibitors (163, 173). MG132 (Z-Leu-Leu-Leu-al) is a commonly used peptide aldehyde. MG132 is a highly potent and selective inhibitor, since inhibition of calpains and cathepsins requires at least 10-fold higher concentrations than what is needed to block the proteasome (261).

Lactacystin is more selective in inhibition of the proteasome activity than peptide aldehyde inhibitors (Fig. X.). In contrast to synthetic peptide aldehydes, lactacystin is a *Streptomyces lactacystinaeus* metabolite. Lactacystin was found to irreversibly inhibit the proteasome chymotrypsin- and trypsin-like activities while reversibly inhibiting peptidyl glutamyl peptide hydrolyzing activity (100). Subsequent studies showed that lactacystin itself does not inhibit the proteasome but rather its neutral pH decomposition product, clastolactacystin- β -lactone, is responsible for inhibition (64). Lactacystin does not inhibit most serine proteases (109, 220)

Epoxyketones are the most selective inhibitors because of their unique mechanism of inhibiting 20S activity (Fig. X.). Since these compounds react with both the hydroxyl and amino group of N-threonine, they cannot inhibit cysteine or serine proteases (121, 195). The epoxyketone inhibitor, epoxomicin is an *Actinomycete* product (126).





Figure X. Proteasome inhibitor mechanisms. Inhibitors are in black. Inhibitor pharmacophores are in red. The proteasome is in light blue, and newly formed bonds are purple (163).



E. AIM OF CURRENT WORK

The cellular proteasome activity has been shown to be important for the endocytic entry of several viruses. The overall goal of this research was to demonstrate a role for the cellular proteasome during HSV entry and then begin to detail the mechanism of proteasome-dependent entry. In the first section, I demonstrated that the proteasome activity was required early in HSV entry using β -galactosidase assays and time of addition experiments. Various proteasome inhibitors were used to determine which of the 20S β -subunits is required for HSV entry. A thermosensitive cell system was used to address whether the ubiquitin machinery is important for this process. I then sought to determine when the proteasome activity is required during HSV entry using binding, capsid transport, citrate inactivation, fluorescence protease protection, and fusion-from-without assays. Due to the IE ICP0's E3 ubiquitin ligase activity and dynamic interaction with the proteasome, I sought to address the fundamental properties of tegument ICP0 and determine the role of tegument ICP0 during proteasome-dependent entry of HSV. For the second section, I sought to characterize ICP0 in the virion tegument layer. The overall protein content of virions without tegument ICP0 was compared to WT to determine whether the absence of ICP0 influences assembly of mature virions. To address whether the RING finger domain of ICP0 is necessary for tegument ICP0 incorporation, the tegument ICP0 content of ICP0 mutant HSVs were analyzed via Western blot. A tegument release assay was used to discern whether ICP0 is an inner or outer tegument protein. In the last section, I begin to address ICP0's role in proteasome-dependent HSV entry using β -galactosidase reporter assays. The majority of the work presented in this thesis has been published or is in preparation for submission (55-57).



II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

A. CELLS AND MEDIA

Vero cells and U2OS cells (American Type Culture Collection, Rockville, MD) were propagated in Dulbecco modified Eagle medium (Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gemini Bio-Products, West Sacramento, CA). CHO-nectin-1 cells (M3A cells) are CHO-K1 cells stably transformed with the human nectin-1 gene and the *Escherichia coli lacZ* gene under the control of the HSV ICP4 promoter (M3A cells provided by G. Cohen and R. Eisenberg, University of Pennsylvania) (111). The cells were propagated in Ham F-12 nutrient mixture (Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 150 g of puromycin (Sigma, St. Louis, MO)/ml, and 250 g of G418 sulfate (Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ)/ml. Cells were subcultured in nonselective medium prior to use in experiments. Mouse ts20 cells (obtained from Harvey S. Ozer, University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey) are derived from BALB/c 3T3 fibroblasts and contain a temperature-sensitive E1 enzyme. BALB/c 3T3 cells (American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), Manassas, VA) and ts20 cells were maintained at the permissive temperature of 35°C (38, 281). The nonpermissive temperature is 39°C.

B. VIRUSES

Parental WT HSV-1 strain KOS and its derivative 7134, which has the *lacZ* gene in place



of both inverted repeat copies of the IE ICP0 gene, were obtained from T. Holland (Wayne State University) and P. Schaffer (Harvard University) (31). HSV-1 KOS-tk12 (provided by Patricia Spear, Northwestern University) contains the lacZ gene under control of the ICP4 promoter (269). HSV-1 KOS K26GFP contains green fluorescent protein (GFP) fused to the N terminus of the VP26 capsid protein (60) (provided by Prashant Desai, Johns Hopkins University). HSV-1 strain ANG path was obtained from Thomas Holland, Wayne State University (150). WT HSV-2 strain G was obtained from ATCC (73). The additional parental WT HSV-1 and mutant strains were kindly provided by Roger D. Everett (MRC Virology Unit, Glasgow, U.K.) (Table V.). The additional WT HSV-1 virus used in this study was Glasgow strain 17 syn⁺ (17⁺) (23). The mutant dl1403 virus has a 2 kB lesion in ICP0 (257). The FXE virus has a defined lesion in the ICP0 RING finger domain (80-82, 103). Rescued d11403 and FXE viruses were obtained by transfection of mutant virion DNA with a plasmid containing a fragment specifying the ICP0 gene (81, 241). The K144E and N155D viruses have single as substitutions in the ICPO RING finger putative alpha helix (78). M1 virus has a double as substitution in ICP0 that reduces USP7 interaction while D12 has a deletion in the ICP0 C-terminus that inhibits USP7 binding (91, 196). Rescued M1 viruses were obtained by transfection of mutant virion DNA with fragment of the ICP0 gene that includes the locations of the M1 mutation (18). For Section III, viruses were propagated and titered on Vero cells. For Sections IV-V, viruses were propagated and titered on U2OS cells.

C. POLYCLONAL AND MONOCLONAL ANTIBODIES

Anti-p53 mouse monoclonal antibody (MAb) pab421 was purchased from EMD Chemicals, Inc. (Darmstadt, Germany). MAb 11060, which is specific for the exon 2 sequences of ICP0, was kindly provided by Roger D. Everett (MRC Virology Unit, Glasgow, U.K.) (87).



Virus	ICP0 structure	Description
17+ ^a	1-775	Wild type
<i>dl</i> 1403 ^b	1-105	ICP0 null mutant
<i>dl</i> 1403R ^c	1-775	ICP0 rescuant
FXE^d	1-105::150-775	RING finger deletion
FXER ^c	1-775	RING finger rescuant
K144E ^e	aa 144 point mutation	Substitution in RING finger helix
N151D ^e	aa 151 point mutation	Substitution in RING finger helix
D12 ^f	1-593::634-775	USP7 binding region deletion
M1 ^g	R623L, K624I	USP7 binding negative substitution
M1R ^h	1-775	USP7 binding rescuant

Table V. Details of ICP0 proteins expressed by viruses

^a Parental virus HSV-1 Glasgow strain 17 syn⁺ (17⁺) (23).

^b Has a 2 kb lesion in both inverted repeat copies of the ICP0 gene (257).

^c Rescued virus was obtained by cotransfection with mutant virion DNA and a plasmid containing a fragment specifying the ICP0 gene (81, 241).

^d Has a defined lesion in the ICP0 RING finger domain yielding a deletion of 45 amino acids (80-82, 103).

^e Has a single amino acid substitution in the alpha helix of the ICP0 RING finger (78).

^f Has a deletion in the ICP0 C-terminus USP7 binding domain (196).

^g Has a double amino acid substitution in the USP7 binding domain (91).

^h Rescued virus was obtained by cotransfection of mutant virion DNA with fragment of the ICP0 gene (18).



Anti-p53 MAb pab421 was purchased from EMD Chemicals, Inc. (Darmstadt, Germany). MAb 11060, which is specific for the exon 2 sequences of ICP0, was kindly provided by Roger D. Everett (MRC Virology Unit, Glasgow, U.K.) (87). Rabbit polyclonal antibody (RAb) is against the N-terminus of VP1-2 (R27B4, a gift of R. Courtney). Anti-actin MAb AC-74 and anti-alpha-tubulin MAb DM1A were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Anti-ICP0 MAb H1A027, anti-gB MAb H1817, anti-ICP4 MAb HIA021, anti-VP16 MAb 1-21 and VP5 MAb HA018 were purchased from Virusys (North Berwick, ME). MAb 1-21 specific for VP16 was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. (Santa Cruz, California) (193). Anti-gD MAb DL6 (47) and anti-gH-gL RAb R137 (225), were gifts of R. Eisenberg and G. Cohen.

D. CHEMICALS

Stocks of 0.5 M cycloheximide (Sigma), 1 mM epoxomicin (Peptides International, Louisville, KY), 4 mM MG132 (Sigma) and 10 mM N-tosyl-L-phenylalanine chloromethylketone (TPCK; Fisher Scientific) stocks were prepared in ethanol. 1 mM Lactacystin (Peptides International), 5 mM N-a-tosyl-L-lysinyl-chloromethylketone (TLCK; Sigma) and 0.2 mM YU102 (Biomol International, Plymouth Meeting, PA) stocks were prepared in dimethyl sulfoxide (Sigma). 0.5 mg of heparin (Sigma)/ml was prepared in water. All stocks were stored at 20°C.

E. PLAQUE ASSAY

Vero cells were grown in 24-well dishes overnight. Cells were mock treated or treated with MG132. HSV-1 KOS was added (100 PFU/well) in the presence or absence of MG132. At 3 hours (h) post-infection, medium was removed and sodium citrate buffer (135 mM NaCl, 40



mM C₆H₅Na₃O₇, 10 mM KCl [pH 3.0]) or phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) warmed to 37°C was added. At 18 to 24 h p.i., culture medium was removed, and cells were fixed with an ice-cold methanol-acetone solution (2:1 ratio) for 20 min at 20°C and air dried. Virus titers were determined by immunoperoxidase staining with anti-HSV polyclonal antibody HR50 (Fitzgerald Industries, Concord, MA).

F. CITRATE INACTIVATION ASSAY

Vero cells were grown in 24-well dishes overnight. Cells were mock treated or treated with MG132 for 30 min at 37°C. HSV-1 KOS was added (100 PFU/well) in the presence or absence of MG132 for various times at 37°C. Sodium citrate buffer or PBS warmed to 37°C was added for 1 min at 37°C. Culture medium was added, or cells were subjected to four 5 min washes with warmed medium. Infection proceeded for 18 to 24 h, and plaque formation was quantified.

G. β-GALACTOSIDASE REPORTER ASSAY

Confluent cell monolayers grown in 96-well dishes were treated with medium containing proteasome inhibitors or vehicle controls for 15 to 30 min at 37°C. HSV-1 KOS or KOS-tk12 (MOI of 4, unless otherwise indicated) was added. Cells were incubated in the constant presence of proteasome inhibitors for 6 to 7.5 h. 0.5% Nonidet P-40 (Sigma) cell lysates were prepared, chlorophenol red--D-galacto-pyranoside (Roche Diagnostic, Indianapolis, IN) was added, and the β -galactosidase activity was read at 595 nm with an ELx808 microtiter plate reader (BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT). β -Galactosidase activity indicated successful entry. Similar results



were obtained at an MOI of 1. Mean results and standard errors were calculated for four replicate samples.

H. CELL VIABILITY

Cell cultures in 96-well dishes were treated with culture medium plus inhibitor or mocktreated for 7.5 h. Cell monolayers were treated with trypsin and resuspended in a 0.07% solution of trypan blue (Sigma). Cells were counted on a hemacytometer by using light microscopy. The 100% viability was equal to the number of cells that exclude trypan blue/total number of cells in mock-treated samples. Mean results and the standard error were calculated for four replicate samples.

I. CELL BINDING ASSAY

Vero cells were grown overnight on glass coverslips in 24-well dishes. Cells were treated with the indicated inhibitor for 15 min at 37°C. Cultures were then chilled on ice, and HSV-1 K26GFP was added at an MOI of 30. Dishes were centrifuged at 200 g for 1 h at 4°C to enhance virus binding. Cells were washed with ice-cold PBS (Invitrogen) and then fixed with 3% paraformaldehyde (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ) in PBS prior to confocal microscopy.

J. SUBCELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF HSV BY CONFOCAL MICROSCROPY

Vero cells were grown overnight on glass coverslips in 24-well dishes. Cells were treated with proteasome inhibitor or vehicle control in the presence of 0.5 mM cycloheximide for 15 min at 37°C. Cultures were rapidly chilled on ice, and then a supernatant preparation of HSV-1 KOS K26GFP was added (MOI of 10) in the continued presence of agent. Virus was spinoculated onto



the cell surface by centrifugation at 200 g for 1 h at 4°C. Entry was initiated by shifting dishes to 37°C for 2.5 h in the continued presence of agent. Cells were washed three times with PBS and fixed in 3% paraformaldehyde in PBS prior to confocal microscopy.

Paraformaldehyde-fixed cells on cover-slips were permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100 (Fisher Scientific) in PBS for 8 min. Cells were then blocked with PBS containing 1% bovine serum albumin (Sigma) for 20 min. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; Roche). Coverslips were washed with PBS, mounted with Fluoromount G (Electron Microscopy Sciences), and viewed with a Zeiss LSM 510 Meta microscope equipped with a 63 oil immersion objective lens. Digital images were processed with Adobe Photoshop CS2 version 9.

K. FLUORESCENCE PROTEASE PROTECTION ASSAY

Modified from (179). HSV entry into Vero cells proceeded in the presence of 25 µM MG132 for 2.5 h as described above for subcellular localization of GFP-tagged HSV. Cells were then chilled and washed twice with ice-cold KHM buffer (110 mM KC2H3O2, 20 mM HEPES, 2 mM MgCl2 [pH 7.2]). For protease treatment, 100 µg of ice-cold proteinase K (Invitrogen)/ml in KHM buffer was added to live cells for 2.5 min on ice. Proteolysis was halted with 4 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (Sigma) and 1% bovine serum albumin in KHM buffer. For permeabilized samples, digitonin (EMD Chemicals, Inc.) in KHM buffer was added to cells for 3 min at 37°C prior to proteinase K treatment. Cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS, fixed with 3% paraformaldehyde, and then visualized by confocal microscopy.



L. FUSION-FROM-WITHOUT ASSAY

As described previously (54), Vero cells were pretreated with growth medium containing 0.5 mM cycloheximide with or without 50 µM MG132 for 15 min. Cell-free supernatant preparations of HSV-1 ANG path were added to cells (MOI of 50) for 3 h at 37°C in the constant presence of 0.5 mM cycloheximide. Cells were rinsed with PBS and then fixed in 100% methanol. Monolayers were air dried, and then nuclei were stained with Giemsa (Sigma). Micrographs were taken with a Zeiss Axiovert 40C microscope equipped with a Canon PowerShot G6 digital camera. Digital images were processed with Adobe Photoshop CS2 version 9.0. To quantitate fusion, photomicrographs of random fields from triplicate wells (500 cells/well) were scored. The number of nuclei present in clusters of four or more divided by the total number of nuclei yielded the percent fusion.

M. THERMOSENSITIVE E1 UBIQUITIN-ACTIVATING ENZYME ASSAY

Modified from (38). Confluent cell monolayers grown in 96-well dishes of BALB/c 3T3 or ts20 cells were maintained at 35°C or transferred to 39°C for 18 h. HSV-1 KOS-tk12 was diluted in media and warmed at 39°C for 1 h. Virus was then added to cells and incubated in the constant temperature for 6 h. 0.5% Nonidet P-40 (Sigma) cell lysates were prepared, chlorophenol red-D-galacto-pyranoside (Roche Diagnostic, Indianapolis, IN) was added, and the β -galactosidase activity was read.

N. SODIUM-DODECYL POLYACRYLAMIDE ELECTROPHORESIS

Samples in Laemmli buffer were separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)–10% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE), blotted onto nitrocellulose and probed for p53 or



alpha-tubulin. For the remaining experiments, samples in Laemmli buffer were separated by SDS–4-20% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Nitrocellulose membranes were then incubated with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-mouse or anti-rabbit immunoglobulin G (Pierce, Rockford, IL), developed with enhanced chemiluminescence detection reagents (Pierce), and exposed to X-ray film (Kodak).

O. PREPARATION OF UNINFECTED AND INFECTED CELL LYSATES

Modified from (38). BALB/c 3T3 or ts20 cells were maintained at 35°C or transferred to 39°C for 18 h. Lysates were prepared in radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (100 mM NaCl, 25 mM Tris [pH 7.5], 2% Nonidet P-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.2% SDS containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche).

U2OS cells were infected with the indicated virus (based on 17+ MOI of 1) for 18 h. Lysates were prepared in NP-40 buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris [pH 7.2], 1% Nonidet P-40, and 2 mM EDTA) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). Cell lysates were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting with MAb H1A027 to ICP0.

P. TEGUMENT RELEASE ASSAY

Modified from (203). Extracellular 17+ virions (3 x 10^9 PFU) were resuspended in 0.2 ml lysis buffer (50 mM HEPES [pH 7.4] and 1% Triton X-100) containing 0.1, 0.5, or 1 M NaCl. The reactions were then incubated for 30 min at 37°C. The reaction mixtures were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 30 min through a 0.5 ml 35% sucrose cushion. The 200 µl supernatant above the sucrose cushion was recovered. Released proteins in the supernatant were heat precipitated and resuspended in Laemmli buffer. The sucrose cushion was removed, and the pellet, containing



capsids and capsid-associated tegument proteins, was resuspended in Laemmli buffer. Pelleted (pellet) and released (sup) fractions were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting with antibodies to ICP0, VP1-2, ICP4, VP16, gB, or VP5.



III.PROTEASOME ACTIVITY IS REQUIRED FOR HSV ENTRY AT A POST-PENETRATION STEP

A. INTRODUCTION

The major classes of cellular proteases include cysteine, serine, aspartic acid metalloproteases and the proteasome. Viruses take advantage of cellular proteases for viral entry and infection. Endosomal cysteine protease cleavage of Ebola virus glycoprotein facilitates viral interaction with cellular receptors (152). The 26S proteasome is important for the entry of several other viruses (159, 239, 240, 279), all of which utilize endocytic pathways. For studies with murine hepatitis and minute virus, pulse MG132 treatment of infected cells showed that proteasome activity is required early in viral entry (239, 240, 279). Influenza virus and murine hepatitis virus both require the proteasome activity prior to viral penetration (159, 279). MG132 traps influenza virus in what are thought to be sorting endosomes (159). Murine hepatitis virus is blocked in an endocytic compartment, prior to penetration (279). In contrast, MG132-arrested virions of the nonenveloped minute virus of mice appear in the nuclear periphery, after they have escaped or penetrated the endosomal membrane (239, 240). There have been several studies on the role of the proteasome in HSV infection of cultured cells (25, 35, 50, 76, 84, 89, 125, 178). These studies were carried out under postentry conditions and at times in which newly expressed viral gene products are active.



Our lab used a panel of protease inhibitors to evaluate whether HSV uses cellular proteases to facilitate entry into host cells. Only the proteasomal inhibitor lactacystin blocked HSV entry (unpublished data). The requirement for the proteasomal activity during HSV entry was then confirmed and characterized. Cell-type dependence on the proteasome activity during HSV entry was evaluated using model cell lines for endocytic and nonendocytic entry pathways. I also examined whether the proteasome-dependence during entry is strain- or serotypedependent. I performed time of addition experiments with MG132 to demonstrate that the proteasome-dependence was with HSV entry and not with downstream events. The active site of the 20S proteasome required for HSV entry was examined. Potential interplay between the proteasome and ubiquitin machinery during HSV entry was also evaluated using a thermosensitive cell line.

The time of addition experiments suggested that proteasome activity is required for an early HSV step, either for binding to the cell surface, fusion or capsid transport. Although, the examples of virions that require the proteasome for entry do not appear to require the proteasome activity for binding, the possibility still remained and had to be tested. To define more precisely the step in viral entry that is influenced by proteasome activity, the effect of MG132 on steps prior to gene expression were analyzed by confocal microscopy. In confocal experiments, HSV was added to cells in the presence of cycloheximide, a protein synthesis inhibitor, to ensure that the entry steps being evaluated were independent of downstream events.



B. RESULTS

1. Early HSV infection is blocked by proteasomal inhibitors

The presence of MG132 during the first 3 h of infection inhibited HSV plaque formation by 60% (Fig. XI. A.). HSV-induced expression of β -galactosidase is frequently used as a measure of successful viral entry. HSV-1 KOS-tk12 entry into Vero cells, as measured by a β galactosidase reporter assay, was inhibited by MG132 in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig. XI. B.). Epoxomicin also blocked HSV-induced β -galactosidase activity (Fig. XI. C.). The inhibitors were effective at concentrations that were not toxic to the cells, as measured by a cell viability assay (Fig. XI.). Since reporter gene activity is measured at 6 to 7.5 h p.i., it is important to note that steps up to and including IE gene expression might be affected in this assay. Together, the data suggested a role for the proteasome in HSV entry and infection.

2. Early HSV infection by endocytic or nonendocytic routes are proteasome-dependent

Vero cells support nonendocytic entry via direct fusion at the plasma membrane (105, 166, 214, 252). In contrast, CHO-nectin-1 cells are a prototype line that supports HSV entry via fusion with an internal membrane after endocytosis (214). Both MG132 and lactacystin impaired HSV KOS-tk12 infection of CHO-nectin-1 cells, as measured by HSV-induced β -galactosidase activity (Fig. XI. D.-E.). Lactacystin appears to have a greater effect than MG132 or epoxomicin





Figure XI. Effect of proteasomal inhibitors on early HSV infection. (A) Effect of MG132 on HSV plaque formation. HSV-1 KOS (100 PFU/well) was added to Vero cells in the presence of MG132. At 3 h post-infection, medium was removed, extracellular virus was acid-inactivated, and plates were incubated for 24 h. Plaques were detected by immunoperoxidase staining and quantified. Data are means of quadruplicate determinations with standard error. Vero cells (B, C) or CHO cells expressing nectin-1, containing a *lacz* gene cassette, (D, E, F) were treated with the indicated concentrations of inhibitor for 15 min. HSV-1 KOS-tk12, containing a *lacz* gene cassette, (B-E) was added for 7.5 h in the continued presence of inhibitor. HSV-1 KOS, HSV-1 17+, HSV-2 G (F) were added for 6 h in the continued presence of inhibitor. Entry was measured as the % of beta-galactosidase activity relative to that obtained in the absence of agent. Data are means of quadruplicate determinations with standard error. The effect of inhibitor on cell viability was measured by trypan blue exclusion. Viability in the absence of inhibitor was set to 100%. The mean viability and standard error of quadruplicate samples is shown.



in CHO-nectin-1 and Vero cells (Fig. XI. D.-E. and data not shown). This may be because the efficacy of a proteasome inhibitor can differ depending on the substrate being degraded (162). The data suggests that HSV infection is dependent on proteasomal degradation, regardless of whether endocytic or nonendocytic entry routes are utilized.

3. Proteasome-dependence is strain and serotype independent

The HSV-1 KOS strain was used to demonstrate a role for the cellular proteasome during HSV entry (55). For the ICP0-tegument studies, the HSV-1 17+ strain is the background for all of the ICP0 mutants. Before performing experiments with HSV-1 ICP0 mutants, I had to confirm that WT 17+ entered host cells via a proteasome-dependent pathway. KOS and 17+ were added to CHO-nectin-1 in the presence of MG132 and then β -galactosidase activity was measured at 6 p.i. KOS and 17+ were inhibited in a very similar concentration-dependent manner (Fig. XI. F.). Since HSV-2 G strain was also inhibited by MG132 (Fig. XI. F.), the data suggests that proteasome-dependent entry may be independent of HSV strain or serotype (55).

4. Inhibitors act directly on the cellular proteasome

Herpesviruses mimic a myriad of cellular functions (237). It was possible that in the previous experiments, the proteasome inhibitors were interfering with a virus-encoded function of HSV that is needed for entry. To determine whether this was the case, I took advantage of the known irreversible effect of lactacystin on the proteasome. Once lactacystin binds to 20S subunits, its inhibitory effect on the proteasome cannot be reversed by washing the cells. CHO-nectin-1 cells were pretreated with medium containing lactacystin. Medium was removed, and cells were washed prior to addition of HSV. Lactacystin inhibited HSV-induced β -galactosidase



activity in an equivalent manner, whether the cells were washed prior to infection or whether lactacystin was present for the duration of the assay (Fig. XII. A.). This result is consistent with the inhibitor acting directly on the proteasome itself and not on a function of HSV. If lactacystin were affecting HSV directly, then infection would have resumed after the removal and washout of lactacystin. This was not the case (Fig. XII. A.). In contrast to lactacystin, MG132 is a reversible inhibitor (173). Cells that were treated with MG132 and then washed prior to addition of virus were much more susceptible to HSV than the cells that were not washed (Fig. XII. B.). The effect of MG132 was 85% reversible in this cell system.

5. Proteasome activity is required at an early step of HSV entry

To begin to identify the viral process that involves proteasomal degradation, cells were infected with HSV, and then MG132 was added at different times postinfection. The later the MG132 was added, the less of an inhibitory effect there was on HSV infection of either Vero or CHO-nectin-1 cells (Fig. XIII.). MG132 was most effective at blocking virus-induced β -galactosidase activity when added to Vero cells during the 1st h p.i. or when added to CHO-nectin-1 cells during the first 2 h p.i. (Fig. XIII.). The results suggest that an early event in HSV infection, such as viral entry, requires the proteasome.

6. Chymotrypsin-like proteasome active site required for HSV entry

The 20S catalytic core contains three different proteolytic sites, chymotrypsin-, trypsinand caspase-like active sites (162). The minute virus of mice, which also interacts with the proteasome for a post-penetration step, specifically requires the chymotrypsin-like site (239). Thus, I examined which of the 20S active sites was required for HSV entry. To address this





Figure XII. Lactacystin acts directly on the cell proteasome, not on an HSV-specific function. CHO-nectin-1 cells were treated with lactacystin (A) or MG132 (B) for 30 min at 37 °C. Medium was removed. Cells were either washed four times for 5 min with culture medium, and then HSV-1 KOS-tk12 (MOI of 1) was added in medium without inhibitor (Wash), or virus was added in the continued presence of agent (No Wash). Beta-galactosidase activity was measured at 6 h p.i. as an indication of viral entry (as in Fig. XI). Data are means of quadruplicate determinations with standard error.





Figure XIII. MG132 is most effective when added early in infection. HSV-1 KOS-tk12 or KOS was bound to Vero or CHO-nectin-1 cells, respectively, for 1 h at 4°C. Cells were rapidly warmed to 37°C to initiate infection. At the indicated times, 25 µM MG132 was added to the cells. Beta-galactosidase activity was measured at 6 h p.i. as an indication of viral entry (as in Fig. XI). N, no MG132 added. Data are means of quadruplicate determinations with standard error.


question, the proteasomal chymotrypsin-, trypsin- and caspase-like activities were specifically inhibited with N-tosyl-L-phenylalanine chloromethylketone (TPCK), N- α -tosyl-L-lysinylchloromethylketone (TLCK) and YU102, respectively. Concentrations known to inhibit proteasome activity were used. TLCK and YU102 had no effect on early HSV infection (Fig. XIV.). Similar results were seen with leupeptin, a trypsin-like active site inhibitor (date not shown). A dose-dependent decrease in HSV-induced expression of β -galactosidase was only observed with TPCK (Fig. XIV.). Similar results were seen with the other chymotrypsin-like inhibitors MG132 (Fig. XI. B. and D.), lactacystin (Fig. XI. E.) and Epoxomicin (data not shown). These results suggest that the predominant active site of the proteasome required for HSV entry is the chymotrypsin-like site.

7. HSV entry is independent of the E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme

I then determined whether the host ubiquitination machinery is required for HSV entry. To assess HSV entry under conditions where ubiquitin monomers are not activated, a mouse ts20 cell line was used (38), which is derived from BALB/c 3T3 fibroblasts. These cells have a temperature-sensitive E1 enzyme, which is nonfunctional at 39°C.

I first verified that E1 is nonfunctional in ts20 cells at the nonpermissive temperature by using a p53 stability assay. The transcription factor p53 is a regulator of cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis (172). Wild-type p53 has a short half-life and is degraded by the UPS (38). p53 was stabilized in ts20 cells at the restrictive temperature (Fig. XV. A.), confirming inactivation of E1.

Notably, HSV-1 KOS-tk12 expressed β-galactosidase in ts20 cells at 39°C in a manner





Figure XIV. Effect of inhibitors of the distinct proteolytic activities on the 20S β -subunit. Vero cells were treated with TLCK, YU102 or TPCK for 15 min at 37°C. KOS-tk12 virus was added for 6 hr in the continued presence of inhibitor. The percent β -galactosidase activity relative to that obtained in the absence of agent is indicated. The data are means of quadruplicate determinations with the standard errors.





Figure XV. Role of a cellular E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme in HSV entry. ts20 or BALB/c 3T3 cells were cultured at 35°C or 39°C for 18 h. (A) p53 is not degraded in ts20 cells at the nonpermissive temperature. Lysates were prepared and analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted for p53 or α-tubulin (Tub). (B-C) HSV enters cells with an inactive E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme. HSV-1 KOS-tk12 was added to cells cultured at 35°C (B) or 39°C (C). Betagalactosidase activity was determined at 6 h p.i. (D-E) E1 ubiquitin-activating enzymeindependent entry of HSV still requires proteasome activity. ts20 cells maintained at 39°C were



treated with MG132 (D) or lactacystin (E) for 15 min. HSV-1 KOS-tk12 was added in the presence of inhibitor. Beta-galactosidase activity was measured at 6 h p.i. (as in Fig. 1). Data are means of quadruplicate determinations with standard errors.



similar to that seen at 35°C (Fig. XV. B.-C.). Thus, viral entry proceeded under conditions that inhibited a cellular E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme (Fig. XV. A. and C.). HSV also infected control BALB/c 3T3 cells at both temperatures (Fig. XV. B.-C.). Virus-induced gene expression in ts20 cells at the nonpermissive temperature was inhibited by MG132 and lactacystin (Fig. XV. D.-E.), indicating that entry is still reliant on active proteasomes. Although MG132 and lactacystin seem to be slightly less effective in ts20 cells than CHO-nectin-1 cells (Fig. XI. D.-E. and Fig. XV. D.-E.). Together, the results suggest that HSV may enter cells in a proteasomedependent, ubiquitin-independent manner.

8. Binding of HSV to the cell surface is independent of proteasome activity

First, I determined whether proteasome inhibitors disrupted HSV binding to Vero cells. Vero cells were treated with MG132, and then HSV-1 K26GFP was added for 1 h at 4°C. Each punctate fluorescent signal is an individual K26GFP virion. MG132 treatment had no discernible inhibitory effect on HSV binding to cells (Fig. XVI. A.-B.). In contrast, control treatment with 1 g of heparin/ml blocked virus binding to cells by more than 80% (Fig. XVI. C.-D.) (271). This suggested that the proteasome is not needed for virus binding to the cell surface.

9. MG132 affects an entry step prior to capsid transport

I investigated the role of the proteasome in the delivery of incoming HSV-1 K26GFP capsids to the nucleus during entry. In HSV-infected Vero cells, the bulk of the GFP signal is detected at or near the nucleus by 2.5 h p.i. (Fig. XVI. E.). In the continued presence of MG132, lactacystin, or epoxomicin, GFP-tagged capsids were not effectively transported to the nuclear periphery (Fig. XVI. F.-H.). Instead, the bulk of GFP-tagged viral particles appeared to be





Figure XVI. Effect of proteasomal inhibitors on binding and capsid transport. (A-D) Effect of MG132 on virus binding to cells. HSV-1 KOS K26GFP (MOI of 30) was added to pre-chilled Vero cells for 1 h at 4°C in the presence of no inhibitor (A), 25 μM MG132 (B), or 1 μg/ml heparin (C). Cells were fixed and confocal images were obtained. Bar, 100 microns. (D) The number of bound GFP-tagged virions was quantified by three observers blinded to experimental conditions (Virions). Data are the mean with standard error. In parallel, mean GFP intensity was measured by the Histogram function of Adobe Photoshop. Binding in the absence of inhibitor was set to 100%. (E-H) Effect of proteasome inhibitors on incoming capsid transport to the



nuclear periphery. Vero cells were mock-treated (E) or treated with 25 μ M MG132 (F), 10 μ M lactacystin (G), or 10 μ M epoxomicin (H) for 15 min at 37°C. HSV-1 KOS K26GFP (MOI of 10) was added for 2.5 h in the constant presence of agent and 0.5 mM cycloheximide. Cells were fixed, and confocal images were obtained. Images are representative of cell population. Bar, 10 microns.



trapped at the cell periphery. Since these experiments were performed in the presence of cycloheximide, these results suggests that newly synthesized viral factors do not affect the proteasome dependence of entry. Whether our findings bear on downstream, proteasome-mediated events in HSV infection remains to be seen. Together, the results suggest that proteasome activity is needed for a step in HSV entry that occurs after cell binding but prior to capsid arrival at the nucleus.

10. MG132 block on capsid transport is partially reversible

MG132 can be washed out of cells prior to addition of virus, resulting in a much-reduced inhibitory effect (Fig. XII. B.). This is consistent with the reversible effect of MG132 on the proteasome. I then determined whether the block to capsid transport imposed by MG132 could be reversed by washout. Vero cells were infected with HSV-1 K26GFP for 2 h in the presence of MG132 (Fig. XVII. B.). After washout of MG132 and incubation for an additional hour, GFP-tagged capsids appeared to migrate toward the nucleus (Fig. XVII. C.). Punctate GFP signals were visualized at an intermediate site between the cell periphery and the nucleus and in the perinuclear region (Fig. XVII. C.). This is in line with the known reversible effect of MG132 on the 20S proteasome.

11. HSV entry relies on proteasome activity at a postpenetration step

From the fluorescence microscopy experiments (Fig. XVI. F. and XVII. B.), the location of MG132-arrested virions in Vero cells cannot be ascertained unambiguously. The GFP signal may represent either enveloped virions that have bound but not yet fused or capsids that are halted in the cytosol. I utilized multiple approaches to determine the location of these virions.





Figure XVII. Effect of washout on the MG132 block of capsid transport. Vero cells were mocktreated (A) or treated with 25 μM MG132 (B, C) for 15 min at 37°C. HSV-1 KOS K26GFP was allowed to infect cells for 2 h in the absence (A) or presence of MG132 (B-C). Cells were fixed (B) or were washed four times 5 min with culture medium, and returned to 37°C for an additional hour in normal culture medium prior to fixation (C). Bar, 10 microns.



First, a citrate inactivation assay was used to determine whether MG132-arrested virions were bound to the cell surface. Sodium citrate buffer (pH 3.0) inactivates cell-bound HSV that has not penetrated into the cytosol (145). For example, the infectivity of HSV that is bound to vero cells at 4°C is completely inactivated by citrate treatment (Fig. XVIII. A.). In these experiments, MG132 was washed out after citrate or PBS treatment to allow infection. When citrate buffer was added to the surface of infected cells treated with MG132, HSV infectivity was not significantly affected (Fig. XVIII. B.). Similar infectivity was observed in the control cells that received PBS treatment (Fig. XVIII. B.). The resistance to citrate inactivation supports the notion that HSV penetrates into the cytosol of Vero cells in the presence of MG132.

Second, a fluorescence protease protection assay was used to determine the accessibility of MG132-arrested virions to proteinase K. HSV that is bound to the cell surface can be removed by protease treatment; (215, 252). HSV-1 K26GFP was bound to Vero cells at 4°C (Fig. XVIII. C.). Proteinase K added to the cell surface effectively removed the GFP signal (Fig. XVIII. D.). In contrast, proteinase K did not effectively remove GFP-tagged HSV from MG132-treated cells (Fig. XVIII. F.), suggesting that arrested virions are not present on the cell surface. This is consistent with the inefficacy of citrate treatment (Fig. XVIII. B). When cells were first permeabilized with digitonin and then treated with protease, the GFP signal was removed more effectively (Fig. XVIII. G.). In this case, proteinase K may enter the permeabilized cell and act on cytosolic capsids such that they can be washed away or their GFP degraded. Digitonin treatment alone did not have an effect on retention of GFP signal (not shown). These results support the notions that capsids are halted in the cytosol of MG132-treated cells and that the proteasome is needed for a step in entry that follows penetration.





المنسارات

Figure XVIII. Effect of MG132 on pre-penetration and fusion steps. (A-B) Citrate treatment of the cell surface has no effect on the infectivity of MG132-arrested virions. (A) Vero cells were chilled on ice, and HSV-1 KOS (100 PFU/well) was added for 1 hr at 4 C. Cells were treated with warmed PBS or citrate buffer (pH 3.0). Plates were shifted to 37 C, and plaques were quantified at 24 h p.i. (B) Vero cells were mock treated (No inhibitor) or treated with 25 µM MG132 for 30 min at 3⁷ C. Cells were chilled, and then HSV-1 KOS (100 PFU/well) was added for 1 h at ⁴ C to synchronize infection. Cultures were shifted to 3⁷ C, and MG132 concentrations were maintained for 2.5 h at 37 C. Cells were then treated with PBS or citrate buffer (Citrate), and then extensively washed with culture medium to reverse the effect of MG132. Plaques were quantified at 18 h p.i. Data are the mean of triplicate samples with standard deviation. (C-H) Permeabilization of the plasma membrane followed by treatment with protease allows removal of MG132-arrested virions. HSV-1 KOS K26GFP (MOI of 10) was bound to pre-chilled Vero cells for 1 h at 4 C (C), and then 100 µg/ml Proteinase K was added for 2.5 min (D) prior to fixation and confocal microscopy. Bar, 10 microns. (E-G) HSV-1 KOS K26GFP (MOI of 10) was added to cells in the presence of 25 µM MG132 for 2.5 h p.i. at 37 C. MG132-treated cells received no additional treatment (E), were treated with Proteinase K (F), or were permeabilized with digitonin followed by Proteinase K treatment (G). Cells were fixed and analyzed by confocal microscopy. Bar, 10 microns. (H-K) MG132 has no effect on virion-induced fusion in a fusion-from-without assay. Vero cells were mock-treated (H, I) or treated with 50 µM MG132 (J) for 30 min at 37 C. Cells were left uninfected (H) or HSV-1 ANG path (MOI of 50) was added (I, J) for 3 h in the presence of cycloheximide. Cells were fixed and stained with Giemsa. (K) Fusion was quantitated from photomicrographs of random



fields as described in Materials and Methods. Data are means of triplicate determinations with standard error.



Third, I addressed more directly the possibility that proteasome activity was needed for membrane fusion itself. Virus-cell fusion (or penetration) during HSV entry is refractory to direct study. A fusion-from-without (FFWO) assay was used as a surrogate means to measure virion-induced fusion (54). FFWO is the induction of target cell fusion by addition of virions to the monolayer surface in the absence of viral protein expression (96). A subset of syncytial strains of HSV-1, including the ANG path strain has FFWO activity (150). Relative to uninfected (Fig. XVIII. H.), the addition of HSV-1 ANG path to Vero cell monolayers resulted in the clustering of nuclei, which is indicative of FFWO (Fig. XVIII. I.). I then assessed the effect of MG132 on FFWO. Cells treated with MG132 were susceptible to virion-induced FFWO (Fig. XVIII. J.) in a manner similar to untreated cells (Fig. XVIII. I. and K.), suggesting that the proteasome is not needed for the fusion activity of the virion. Together, the results are consistent with a role for the proteasome in delivering penetrated capsids to the nucleus.



IV. FUNDAMENTAL PROPERTIES OF TEGUMENT ICP0

A. INTRODUCTION

The function of tegument ICP0 during the earliest steps of HSV infection, prior to IE gene expression, has not been evaluated. IE ICP0 has known interactions with the cellular proteasome late in infection and also has E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. Thus ICP0 was a strong candidate for being involved in proteasome-dependent entry and merited analysis.

Prior to determining tegument ICP0's function, some fundamental questions about tegument ICP0 had to be addressed. If mutations in tegument ICP0 caused the loss of other structural proteins in mature virions, future experimental conclusions could not be attributed solely to mutations in tegument ICP0. If mutations caused ICP0 to no longer be incorporated into virions, then results in future experiments would be based on the absence of ICP0 and not on altered function of tegument ICP0. The position of a protein in the tegument layer, inner or outer, can be important for its function during early HSV infection. The position of ICP0 in the tegument could influence the interpretation of future experimental results. To address these questions, we looked at the protein and ICP0 content of WT compared to mutant ICP0 virions. We performed a tegument release assay in order to distinguish whether ICP0 is an outer or inner tegument protein.



B. RESULTS

1. Absence of ICP0 does not alter mature virion protein composition

I investigated whether ICP0 influences the protein composition of mature extracellular virions. One μ g (Fig. XIX. A., left) or equivalent VP5 units (Fig. XIX. A., right) of virions of parental virus HSV-1 Glasgow strain 17+ syn (herein referred to as 17+) or virions of ICP0 null mutant *dl*1403 (Table V.) were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by Coomassie blue staining (23). For each structural protein of the 17+ virions that was detectable by Coomassie blue staining, there was a counterpart protein detected in *dl*1403. Although several proteins were detected at various levels, the overall protein profile of virions released from U2OS cells was not grossly altered by the absence of ICP0 (Fig. XIX. A.).

Equivalent VP5 units of extracellular virions were analyzed by Western blotting with antibodies to glycoproteins, tegument proteins and a major capsid protein. The envelope glycoproteins and tegument proteins tested did not appear to be reduced in the absence of ICP0 (Fig. XIX. B.). By these measures, ICP0 does not appear to grossly affect the protein content of mature virions.

2. Really interesting new gene domain influences tegument ICP0 incorporation

Next, I determined whether the RING finger domain influences ICP0 incorporation into the tegument layer. First, the relative amounts of VP5 in various ICP0 mutant virions (Table V.) propagated on U2OS cells were determined for each preparation of virus (Fig. XX. A.). The ICP0 contents of virions were then analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting with an antibody to ICP0. As expected, WT 17+ contained tegument ICP0 (Fig. XX. A., lane 17+)





Figure XIX. Protein content of extracellular wild type and ICP0 null mature virions. (A) 1 μ g (left) or equivalent VP5 units (right) of HSV-1 wild type (17+) or Δ ICP0 (*dl*1403) were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by Coomassie blue staining. Locations of several HSV structural proteins are indicated at the right. (B) Equivalent VP5 units of extracellular virions were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting with antibodies against the indicated tegument protein or glycoprotein.





Figure XX. Effect of RING finger mutations on the incorporation of ICP0 into virions. Tegument ICP0 content of ICP0 mutants. (A) Incorporation of tegument ICP0 into HSV-1 mutants. The indicated extracellular virions were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting with an antibody to ICP0. In parallel, VP5 was detected by Coomassie staining to demonstrate equivalent particle loading. (B) Expression of ICP0 in cells infected with WT or mutant viruses. U20S cells were infected with the indicated virus (based on MOI = 1 for 17+) for 18 hr. Cell lysates were analyzed by SDS-PAGE followed by Western blotting with an antibodies to ICP0 and β -actin.



while the *dl*1403 mutant did not (Fig. XX. A., lane *dl*1403). FXE virions did not contain ICP0 (Fig. XX. A., lane FXE), suggesting that the RING finger domain is important for the association of ICP0 with mature virions. ICP0 was detected in dl1403 and FXE rescuants (Fig. XX. A., lanes dl1403R and FXER), both of which bear the restored ICP0 gene. ICP0 was also detected in USP7 binding domain mutants M1, M1 rescuant and D12 (Fig. XX. A., lane M1, M1R and D12). This indicates that the USP7 binding region is not required for ICP0 incorporation, a result recently confirmed by Maringer and Elliot (184). Interestingly, K144E virions had greatly reduced levels of tegument ICP0 whereas N151D virions had WT levels (Fig. XX. A., lanes K144E and N151D). Trace amounts of ICP0 were reproducibly detected in K144E virions upon longer exposure to film. To confirm that the reduction in tegument ICP0 in FXE and K144E viruses was not due to lack of expression of mutant ICP0 in infected cells, the expression of ICP0 during mutant virus infection was compared to that during WT 17+ infection. Mutant ICP0 was readily detected in cells infected with FXE or the K144E mutant (Fig. XX. B.), albeit at lower levels as reported previously (78, 81). Thus, the results suggest that the RING finger plays an important role in the incorporation of ICP0 into virions.

3. Tegument infected cell protein 0 is capsid associated

To determine the position of ICP0 within the tegument layer, a tegument release assay was employed (6, 203, 270). This is a measure of how readily detergent and salt can remove a structural protein from the virion. Typically, outer tegument proteins are partially released from virions following treatment with Triton X-100 and up to 1 M NaCl, but capsid-associated or inner tegument proteins are resistant to such treatment. For these experiments, extracellular virions were resuspended in lysis buffer then layered onto a sucrose cushion and centrifuged.



The supernatant above the sucrose cushion was recovered, and the pellet, containing capsids and capsid-associated tegument proteins, was resuspended in Laemmli buffer. Pelleted and released samples were separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted onto nitrocellulose and probed with antibodies against envelope proteins, known inner and outer tegument proteins, ICP0 and ICP4.

As expected, gB was detected in the supernatant, indicating that it was removed along with the virion envelope (Fig. XXI.). In contrast, ICP0 remained in the pellet along with VP5, the major capsid component, even at high salt concentrations (Fig. XXI.). ICP0 was not detected in the supernatant even after longer exposures to X-ray film (data not shown). VP1-2 is a known inner tegument protein and remained associated with capsids in the pellet (Fig. XXI.) (203, 209, 270). In contrast, a fraction of VP16 was readily removed by 1% Triton X-100, consistent with the presence of VP16 in the outer tegument (203, 209, 270). Interestingly, detectable amounts of ICP4 were released by detergent and increasing salt concentrations (Fig. XXI.), suggesting that ICP4 is an outer tegument component.





Figure XXI. Position of ICP0 in the virion tegument layer. Extracellular virions were treated with 1% Triton X-100 in the presence of 0.1, 0.5, or 1.0 M NaCl. The reactions were then centrifuged through a 35% sucrose cushion. Pelleted (Pellet) and released (Sup) fractions were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting with antibodies to ICP0, VP1-2, ICP4, VP16, gB, or VP5.



V. A PRE-IMMEDIATE EARLY ROLE FOR TEGUMENT ICP0

A. INTRODUCTION

For the first experimental section, the cellular proteasome is shown to be required for efficient capsid transport (55). In the second experimental section, ICP0 remains associated with capsids in the tegument release assay, a characteristic of inner tegument proteins (56). Since ICP0 is in the inner tegument, it may be transported with capsids on microtubules during HSV entry. Late in infection IE ICP0 interacts dynamically with cellular proteasomes (263). IE ICP0 has a RING finger domain with E3 ubiquitin ligase activity that is necessary for its IE functions (21). With these known ICP0 functions, it is possible that tegument ICP0 regulates proteasomedependent capsid transport. Thus, in this last section I sought to determine the role of tegument ICP0 during proteasome-dependent entry of HSV. I began by looking at the effects of MG132 on the virus induced β -galactosidase expression or early infection of mutant ICP0 virions.



B. RESULTS

1. In the absence of tegument ICP0, early HSV infection is resistant to MG132

WT HSV-1 KOS entry into CHO-nectin-1 cells was inhibited by MG132 in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig. XXII. A.). In contrast, 7134 entry was refractory to inhibition (Fig. XXII. A.). Similar results at a lower MOI suggest that the phenotype seen is related to entry and not to infection (data not shown). Infections with WT 17+, dl1403 rescuant, FXE rescuant, N151D, M1 and D12 virions were inhibited by MG132 in a dose-dependent manner (Fig. XXII. B.-E.). Infections with *dl*1403, FXE and K144E viruses were inhibited to a lesser extent or not at all by MG132 (Fig. XXII. B.-D.). Recall, that FXE, K144E and dl2403 virions do not contain tegument ICP0 (Fig. XX.). Thus, these results suggest that virions deficient in tegument ICP0 appear to be less dependent on proteasome activity for initiation of infection. MG132 inhibited the efficiency of WT and N151D entry but had less of an effect on the efficiency of *dl*1403, FXE and K144E entry (Fig. XXII. F.-H.). Although at higher MG132 concentrations, the efficiency of entry appears to be similar (Fig. XXII. F.-H.). This suggests that any virions that are resistant to MG132 during WT and N151D entry may enter by a similar pathway as dl1403, FXE and K144E virions. Notably, HSV-1 dl1403 is capable of synthesizing β -galactosidase in the presence of up to 50 μ M MG132 (Fig. XXII. B. and F.). This suggests that MG132 does not directly inhibit reporter gene expression in this assay, and is consistent with the notion that MG132 inhibits WT HSV at the level of capsid transport (55). Importantly, these results suggest a functional role for tegument ICP0 in proteasome-dependent entry.





Figure XXII. Effect of MG132 on the entry of ICP0 mutants. (A-E) CHO-nectin-1 cells, containing a lacZ gene cassette, were treated with MG132 for 15 min at 37°C. WT KOS (A), 7134, containing a lacZ gene cassette (A), WT 17+ (B-E), dl1403 (B), dl1403R (B), FXE (C), FXER (C), K144E (D), N151D (D), M1 (E), M1R (E), or D12 (E) mutant viruses were added for 6 hr in the continued presence of inhibitor. The percent β -galactosidase activity relative to that obtained in the absence of agent is indicated. MG132 decreases the efficiency of HSV entry in the presence of ICP0. (F-G) β -galactosidase activity was taken over 12 min during the reading of (B-D). The data are means of quadruplicate determinations with the standard errors.



VI. DISCUSSION

A. INTRODUCTION

Several virus-cell interactions have been identified during the initial infection of the host cell by HSV. Here I show that functional proteasomes are needed for efficient entry of HSV into cells. Interestingly, viral entry is not dependent on the ubiquitination activity of the cell. Proteasome inhibitors block HSV entry into cells that mediate either endocytic or nonendocytic entry pathways. Together, our studies suggest that a common step in both pathways, namely the delivery of newly penetrated capsids to the nuclear periphery, is proteasome-dependent.

B. CELL TYPE AND PROTEASOME-DEPENDENT ENTRY OF HSV

HSV entry into Vero cells appears to be the first example of a nonendocytic viral entry process to require cellular proteasome activity. The viruses known to require the UPS for viral entry, all utilize endocytic pathways (159, 239, 240, 279). Thus, the subcellular distribution of MG132-arrested HSV reported here appears to be novel. In total, proteasome-mediated proteolysis may play multiple roles in the intracellular trafficking of viruses.

Our results are consistent with the idea that the proteasome is also needed at a postpenetration step in CHO cell entry (Fig. XI.-XVIII.). However, this needs to be determined



conclusively. After endocytosis in CHO-nectin-1 cells, the HSV capsid penetrates from a low pH endocytic compartment (46, 112, 214, 215), but the precise site has not been established. Hence, Vero cells were more amenable to use in several aspects of our study because the penetration of capsid at the plasma membrane is synchronized easily and can be analyzed more directly.

The two major target cells for HSV in the human host are mucosal epithelial cells and sensory neurons of the peripheral nervous system. The distance that the capsid must travel in order to reach the nucleus in epithelial cells, and in the cultured cells used in the present study, is much shorter than the distance to be traveled down the axon of an innervating neuron (75). While proteasome inhibitors block 60 to 90% of HSV entry into Vero, CHO-nectin-1, BALB/c 3T3 (Fig. XI-XVIII), B78-nectin-1, HeLa, and HaCaT cells (data not shown), the proteasome may play an even more significant role in neuronal entry.

C. ASPECTS OF TARGET SUBSTRATE

Chymotrypsin-like active site inhibitors of the proteasome all inhibit HSV entry, while agents that primarily affect the trypsin-like or caspase-like catalytic sites have no effect on viral entry. Thus, the data suggests that the chymotrypsin-like active site is important for substrate proteolysis during HSV entry. To confirm the specificity of proteasome inhibitors I used, proteasomes isolated from inhibitor treated cells would have to be collected, and then the proteolytic activity of model substrates would have to be measured (162). Conclusions from such studies would have to be made with caution because the relative importance of a given active site varies with substrate.

Entry proceeds unimpeded in cells that lack a functional form of a cellular ubiquitinactivating enzyme, E1 (Fig. XV.). With the limitations of the ts20 cell model, I cannot rule out



that HSV might use a viral encoded E1 or a different cellular E1 ubiquitin-activating enzyme. The nature of the degradation signal involved in proteasome-dependent entry of HSV is currently not known. The target substrate could use a cellular or viral adaptor protein to target it to the proteasome. Alternately, the target substrate might be tagged with a ubiquitin-like modification. A number of ubiquitin-like modifications have been identified, such as sumoylation (162). Interestingly, PML and SP100 modified with SUMO are more sensitive to ICP0-mediated degradation (35, 89). It remains to be determined whether such ubiquitin-related moieties play a role in viral entry.

D. TEGUMENT ICP0

By the measures used, ICP0 does not appear to grossly affect the protein content of mature virions (Fig. XIX.). ICP4 is another transcriptional activator located in the tegument and it is known to interact with ICP0 during HSV gene expression. Western blot analysis was used to determine whether the absence of ICP0 affected the incorporation of ICP4. ICP4 was detected in *dl*1403 virions (Fig. XIX. B.). This suggests that ICP4 can be incorporated into virions independently of ICP0. It is important to note that these results do not rule out a role for ICP0 in proper virion assembly. Tegument assembly involves a complex series of protein-protein interactions, and individual tegument proteins may serve redundant functions (197). And based on the limitations of these analyses, it is still possible that one or more structural proteins in addition to ICP0 may be missing from the ICP0-null virus.

While K144E and N151D mutations in the RING alpha helix both decrease the ability of ICP0 to activate gene expression, the K144E phenotype is more pronounced (21, 78) (Table IV.). Also, K144E and N151D mutants both fail to induce the colocalization of conjugated ubiquitin,



but ICP0 with the N151D mutation may still interact with the ubiquitin machinery (84). It is not clear whether these activities relate to the inclusion of the N151D mutant protein and the exclusion of the K144E mutant protein from the tegument (Fig. XX.).

The RING finger of ICP0 plays a critical role in its incorporation into the tegument layer, a result that has recently been confirmed by Maringer and Elliot (184) (Fig. XX.). RING finger mutations cause ICP0 to be more readily retained in the nucleus and this would be a simple explanation as to why there is a reduction of tegument ICP0 (185). It is also possible that the reduction in ICP0 expression during FXE and K144E infection may influence ICP0 incorporation (Fig. XX. B.). ND10 disruption and gene expression have been shown to be requirements for translocation of ICP0 (151, 178). Thus RING finger mutations that inactivate these functions could also lead to nuclear retention. In the absence of VP22, ICP0 is still translocated to the cytoplasm but does not become incorporated into virions (74, 184). An ICPO point mutant is unable to bind to cyclin D3, which might be involved in ICP0 translocation (264). This suggests that the RING finger mutations might block interaction with a cellular or viral factor important for ICP0 translocation (184). The RING finger-dependent incorporation of ICP0 also provides more evidence that ICP0 is specifically incorporated into viral tegument. Future studies could investigate the role that the RING domain plays in the relationship between the cellular localization of ICP0 and the incorporation of ICP0 into the tegument layer.

During infection, ICP0 is dynamically phosphorylated, so it is possible that one or more of these phosphorylation sites is important for ICP0's incorporation into virions (1). ICP0 is also able to autoubiquitinate itself, and such a signal could also target ICP0 to virions (32). Future studies could address whether ICP0 incorporated into virions is posttranslationally modified.



ICP0 was resistant to removal by detergent and high salt, a feature common to inner

tegument proteins (Fig. XXI.), a result that has recently been confirmed (184). In contrast, ICP4 was sensitive to removal by detergent and high salt, a feature common to outer tegument proteins (Fig. XXI.). In contrast, ICP0 is capsid associated. Although specific functions have not yet been ascribed to virion ICP0 and ICP4 proteins, it is tempting to speculate that their different positions in the tegument layer reflect distinct roles in pre-IE events. The presence of tegument ICP4 near the viral envelope may facilitate rapid release into the cytoplasm upon viral penetration and allow for ICP4 to play a pre-IE role in HSV infection. Because ICP0 appears to be an inner tegument protein, tegument ICP0 may be transported with capsids on microtubules and may have a regulatory role at the proteasome-dependent step during HSV entry.

UL14 is a HSV protein that is expressed late in infection and is found in low amounts in the tegument of HSV (273). At low MOI, UL14 mutants exhibit an extended infection and have a defect in release of mature virions. This suggests that UL14 is important for efficient and productive infection. Recently, tegument UL14 has been shown to be required for efficient nuclear targeting of VP16 and capids during entry. UL14 in this case could be influencing the removal of tegument upon penetration, regulating the rate of capsid transport, or important for tegument-tegument interactions during capsid transport. The various correlations between UL14 and ICP0, suggest that ICP0 may have a similar role in entry or be a key player in the capsid transport mechanism.

Newly expressed ICP0 is suggested to play a role in regulating the efficiency of lytic and latent infection. The work presented in this thesis suggests that ICP0 also plays a role in regulating the efficiency of HSV entry. The current hypothesis is that HSV tegument ICP0 plays a pre-IE role in regulating proteasome-dependent entry at a step of capsid transport to the





Figure XXIII. Potential mechanism of proteasome-dependent entry of HSV. This thesis proposes that independent of entry pathway, HSV tegument ICP0 plays a pre-immediate early role in regulating proteasome-dependent entry at a step during capsid transport to the nucleus.



nucleus (Fig. XXIII.). Ongoing studies are aimed at delineating the fate and function of tegument ICP0 during viral entry. As shown in this work, the effect of MG132 on the entry of ICP0 mutant virus was evaluated by β-galactosidase. HSV containing tegument ICP0 appears to enter cells more efficiently than virions that are deficient in tegument ICP0 (Fig. XXII. F.-H.). In addition, the majority of virions with capsid-associated ICP0 appear to enter cells via proteasome-dependent pathway (Fig. XXII. A.-E.), while entry of HSV in the absence of ICP0 is proteasome-independent (Fig. XXII. B.-D.). This suggests that when tegument ICP0 is present, it interacts with proteasomal machinery to facilitate and enhance the efficiency of HSV entry. In this case, MG132 blocks the majority of capsid transport and reduces WT entry efficiency due to a block in tegument ICP0 and proteasome interaction. In the absence of tegument ICP0, ICP0s interaction with the proteasome to facilitate HSV entry would not occur. Proteasome-independent HSV capsid transport is likely to be inefficient due to the absence of the enhancing effect of tegument ICP0. However, the lack of proteasome interaction would allow for capsid transport to occur in the presence of MG132.

E. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Future studies will continue to evaluate the effect of MG132 on the entry of ICP0 mutants by looking at capsid transport by immunofluorescent microscopy. The particle to PFU ratio of ICP0 mutants will be addressed by infecting slides with equivalent VP5 units, based on WT 17+ MOI of 10. Future studies will also seek to complement *dl*1403 and 7134 virions with tegument ICP0. The goal of these studies would be to restore the WT phenotype in ICP0 null virus with cells expressing ICP0. The subcellular localization of tegument ICP0 during HSV entry will also be evaluated. By following input ICP0 by immunoprecipitation our lab hopes to



gain additional details to the mechanism of proteasome-dependent entry of HSV. There is also potential for functional interaction of ICP0 with the inner tegument protein VP1-2, which has an N-terminal DUB domain (155).

Efforts are under way to identify the polypeptide(s) that is degraded during HSV entry. Retrograde movement of herpes-virus capsids toward the nucleus likely involves the coordinated action of virus and cell components (66, 67, 71, 182, 183). HSV outer tegument or capsidassociated tegument proteins are candidate substrates for the 20S proteasome. Also, cytoskeletal elements and their associated motor proteins and regulatory molecules are host factors that may be targeted for degradation. Discovery of the substrate(s) will be critical for understanding the mechanism of proteasome-dependent viral entry.



VII. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Inhibitors and mutational analysis have been strong approaches for examining molecular processes. Proteasomal inhibitors have been valuable tools in discovering new substrates and implicating the proteasome in new aspects of viral infection. HSV interacts with many cellular systems during infection. The cellular 26S proteasome is a key player in HSV infection although its role in HSV entry is only starting to become clear. The mechanism of ICP0 regulation of entry will likely give further insight into the degradation signal and will aid in the discovery of the 26S substrate(s). Interestingly, the proteasome inhibitor, Bortezimib or Velcade®, has been approved for treatment of multiple myeloma (116). Identification of the substrate(s) during HSV entry could aid in the development of a potent proteasomal inhibitor and antiviral drug. The work presented in this thesis indicates that the proteasome has a role in facilitating capsid transport, identifies new aspects of tegument ICP0 and implicates tegument ICP0 as a regulator of this interaction during HSV entry.



VIII. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ackermann, M., D. K. Braun, L. Pereira, and B. Roizman. 1984. Characterization of herpes simplex virus 1 alpha proteins 0, 4, and 27 with monoclonal antibodies. J Virol 52:108-18.
- Akiyama, K., K. Yokota, S. Kagawa, N. Shimbara, T. Tamura, H. Akioka, H. G. Nothwang, C. Noda, K. Tanaka, and A. Ichihara. 1994. cDNA cloning and interferon gamma down-regulation of proteasomal subunits X and Y. Science 265:1231-4.
- Akopian, T. N., A. F. Kisselev, and A. L. Goldberg. 1997. Processive degradation of proteins and other catalytic properties of the proteasome from Thermoplasma acidophilum. J Biol Chem 272:1791-8.
- Amerik, A. Y., and M. Hochstrasser. 2004. Mechanism and function of deubiquitinating enzymes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1695:189-207.
- Arendt, C. S., and M. Hochstrasser. 1997. Identification of the yeast 20S proteasome catalytic centers and subunit interactions required for active-site formation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:7156-61.
- Asai, R., A. Kato, K. Kato, M. Kanamori-Koyama, K. Sugimoto, T. Sairenji, Y. Nishiyama, and Y. Kawaguchi. 2006. Epstein-Barr virus protein kinase BGLF4 is a virion tegument protein that dissociates from virions in a phosphorylation-dependent



process and phosphorylates the viral immediate-early protein BZLF1. J Virol **80:**5125-34.

- Ascoli, C. A., and G. G. Maul. 1991. Identification of a novel nuclear domain. J Cell Biol 112:785-95.
- Atanasiu, D., J. C. Whitbeck, M. P. de Leon, H. Lou, B. P. Hannah, G. H. Cohen, and R. J. Eisenberg. 2010. Bimolecular complementation defines functional regions of HSV gB that are involved with gH/gL as necessary steps leading to cell fusion. J Virol 84:3825-34.
- 9. Baines, J. D., R. J. Jacob, L. Simmerman, and B. Roizman. 1995. The herpes simplex virus 1 UL11 proteins are associated with cytoplasmic and nuclear membranes and with nuclear bodies of infected cells. J Virol **69**:825-33.
- 10. **Banfield, B. W., Y. Leduc, L. Esford, K. Schubert, and F. Tufaro.** 1995. Sequential isolation of proteoglycan synthesis mutants by using herpes simplex virus as a selective agent: evidence for a proteoglycan-independent virus entry pathway. J Virol **69:**3290-8.
- Barlow, P. N., B. Luisi, A. Milner, M. Elliott, and R. Everett. 1994. Structure of the C3HC4 domain by 1H-nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. A new structural class of zinc-finger. J Mol Biol 237:201-11.
- Batterson, W., D. Furlong, and B. Roizman. 1983. Molecular genetics of herpes simplex virus. VIII. further characterization of a temperature-sensitive mutant defective in release of viral DNA and in other stages of the viral reproductive cycle. J Virol 45:397-407.



- Belich, M. P., R. J. Glynne, G. Senger, D. Sheer, and J. Trowsdale. 1994. Proteasome components with reciprocal expression to that of the MHC-encoded LMP proteins. Curr Biol 4:769-76.
- Berezutskaya, E., and S. Bagchi. 1997. The human papillomavirus E7 oncoprotein functionally interacts with the S4 subunit of the 26 S proteasome. J Biol Chem 272:30135-40.
- Boes, B., H. Hengel, T. Ruppert, G. Multhaup, U. H. Koszinowski, and P. M.
 Kloetzel. 1994. Interferon gamma stimulation modulates the proteolytic activity and cleavage site preference of 20S mouse proteasomes. J Exp Med 179:901-9.
- Borden, K. L. 2002. Pondering the promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML) puzzle:
 possible functions for PML nuclear bodies. Mol Cell Biol 22:5259-69.
- Borden, K. L., M. N. Boddy, J. Lally, N. J. O'Reilly, S. Martin, K. Howe, E.
 Solomon, and P. S. Freemont. 1995. The solution structure of the RING finger domain from the acute promyelocytic leukaemia proto-oncoprotein PML. Embo J 14:1532-41.
- Boutell, C., M. Canning, A. Orr, and R. D. Everett. 2005. Reciprocal activities between herpes simplex virus type 1 regulatory protein ICP0, a ubiquitin E3 ligase, and ubiquitin-specific protease USP7. J Virol 79:12342-54.
- Boutell, C., R. Everett, J. Hilliard, P. Schaffer, A. Orr, and D. Davido. 2008. Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 phosphorylation mutants impair the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of ICP0 in a cell type-dependent manner. J Virol 82:10647-56.
- Boutell, C., and R. D. Everett. 2003. The herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) regulatory protein ICP0 interacts with and Ubiquitinates p53. J Biol Chem 278:36596-602.


- 21. **Boutell, C., S. Sadis, and R. D. Everett.** 2002. Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediateearly protein ICP0 and is isolated RING finger domain act as ubiquitin E3 ligases in vitro. J Virol **76:**841-50.
- Braun, B. C., M. Glickman, R. Kraft, B. Dahlmann, P. M. Kloetzel, D. Finley, and M. Schmidt. 1999. The base of the proteasome regulatory particle exhibits chaperonelike activity. Nat Cell Biol 1:221-6.
- 23. **Brown, S. M., D. A. Ritchie, and J. H. Subak-Sharpe.** 1973. Genetic studies with herpes simplex virus type 1. The isolation of temperature-sensitive mutants, their arrangement into complementation groups and recombination analysis leading to a linkage map. J Gen Virol **18**:329-46.
- 24. Bucks, M. A., K. J. O'Regan, M. A. Murphy, J. W. Wills, and R. J. Courtney. 2007. Herpes simplex virus type 1 tegument proteins VP1/2 and UL37 are associated with intranuclear capsids. Virology 361:316-24.
- 25. **Burch, A. D., and S. K. Weller.** 2004. Nuclear sequestration of cellular chaperone and proteasomal machinery during herpes simplex virus type 1 infection. J Virol **78:**7175-85.
- Busch, H., and I. L. Goldknopf. 1981. Ubiquitin protein conjugates. Mol Cell Biochem 40:173-87.
- Cadwell, K., and L. Coscoy. 2005. Ubiquitination on nonlysine residues by a viral E3 ubiquitin ligase. Science 309:127-30.
- 28. Cai, W., T. L. Astor, L. M. Liptak, C. Cho, D. M. Coen, and P. A. Schaffer. 1993. The herpes simplex virus type 1 regulatory protein ICP0 enhances virus replication during acute infection and reactivation from latency. J Virol 67:7501-12.



- Cai, W., and P. A. Schaffer. 1992. Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 regulates expression of immediate-early, early, and late genes in productively infected cells. J Virol 66:2904-15.
- Cai, W. H., B. Gu, and S. Person. 1988. Role of glycoprotein B of herpes simplex virus type 1 in viral entry and cell fusion. J Virol 62:2596-604.
- 31. Cai, W. Z., and P. A. Schaffer. 1989. Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 plays a critical role in the de novo synthesis of infectious virus following transfection of viral DNA. J Virol 63:4579-89.
- 32. **Canning, M., C. Boutell, J. Parkinson, and R. D. Everett.** 2004. A RING finger ubiquitin ligase is protected from autocatalyzed ubiquitination and degradation by binding to ubiquitin-specific protease USP7. J Biol Chem **279**:38160-8.
- 33. Chau, V., J. W. Tobias, A. Bachmair, D. Marriott, D. J. Ecker, D. K. Gonda, and A. Varshavsky. 1989. A multiubiquitin chain is confined to specific lysine in a targeted short-lived protein. Science 243:1576-83.
- 34. Chayavichitsilp, P., J. V. Buckwalter, A. C. Krakowski, and S. F. Friedlander. 2009.
 Herpes simplex. Pediatr Rev 30:119-29; quiz 130.
- Chelbi-Alix, M. K., and H. de The. 1999. Herpes virus induced proteasome-dependent degradation of the nuclear bodies-associated PML and Sp100 proteins. Oncogene 18:935-41.
- 36. Chelbi-Alix, M. K., L. Pelicano, F. Quignon, M. H. Koken, L. Venturini, M. Stadler, J. Pavlovic, L. Degos, and H. de The. 1995. Induction of the PML protein by interferons in normal and APL cells. Leukemia 9:2027-33.



- 37. Chen, Z., and C. M. Pickart. 1990. A 25-kilodalton ubiquitin carrier protein (E2) catalyzes multi-ubiquitin chain synthesis via lysine 48 of ubiquitin. J Biol Chem 265:21835-42.
- 38. Chowdary, D. R., J. J. Dermody, K. K. Jha, and H. L. Ozer. 1994. Accumulation of p53 in a mutant cell line defective in the ubiquitin pathway. Mol Cell Biol 14:1997-2003.
- 39. Chu-Ping, M., J. H. Vu, R. J. Proske, C. A. Slaughter, and G. N. DeMartino. 1994. Identification, purification, and characterization of a high molecular weight, ATPdependent activator (PA700) of the 20 S proteasome. J Biol Chem 269:3539-47.
- 40. **Ciechanover, A., and R. Ben-Saadon.** 2004. N-terminal ubiquitination: more protein substrates join in. Trends Cell Biol **14:**103-6.
- 41. Ciechanover, A., S. Elias, H. Heller, S. Ferber, and A. Hershko. 1980.
 Characterization of the heat-stable polypeptide of the ATP-dependent proteolytic system from reticulocytes. J Biol Chem 255:7525-8.
- 42. Ciechanover, A., H. Heller, S. Elias, A. L. Haas, and A. Hershko. 1980. ATPdependent conjugation of reticulocyte proteins with the polypeptide required for protein degradation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **77**:1365-8.
- 43. Ciechanover, A., H. Heller, R. Katz-Etzion, and A. Hershko. 1981. Activation of the heat-stable polypeptide of the ATP-dependent proteolytic system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78:761-5.
- 44. Ciufo, D. M., M. A. Mullen, and G. S. Hayward. 1994. Identification of a dimerization domain in the C-terminal segment of the IE110 transactivator protein from herpes simplex virus. J Virol 68:3267-82.



- 45. Clarke, R. W., N. Monnier, H. Li, D. Zhou, H. Browne, and D. Klenerman. 2007. Two-color fluorescence analysis of individual virions determines the distribution of the copy number of proteins in herpes simplex virus particles. Biophys J 93:1329-37.
- 46. Clement, C., V. Tiwari, P. M. Scanlan, T. Valyi-Nagy, B. Y. Yue, and D. Shukla.
 2006. A novel role for phagocytosis-like uptake in herpes simplex virus entry. J Cell Biol 174:1009-21.
- 47. Cohen, G. H., B. Dietzschold, M. Ponce de Leon, D. Long, E. Golub, A. Varrichio, L. Pereira, and R. J. Eisenberg. 1984. Localization and synthesis of an antigenic determinant of herpes simplex virus glycoprotein D that stimulates the production of neutralizing antibody. J Virol 49:102-8.
- 48. Coller, K. E., J. I. Lee, A. Ueda, and G. A. Smith. 2007. The capsid and tegument of the alphaherpesviruses are linked by an interaction between the UL25 and VP1/2 proteins. J Virol 81:11790-7.
- 49. Crute, J. J., T. Tsurumi, L. A. Zhu, S. K. Weller, P. D. Olivo, M. D. Challberg, E. S. Mocarski, and I. R. Lehman. 1989. Herpes simplex virus 1 helicase-primase: a complex of three herpes-encoded gene products. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:2186-9.
- 50. **Dai-Ju, J. Q., L. Li, L. A. Johnson, and R. M. Sandri-Goldin.** 2006. ICP27 interacts with the C-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II and facilitates its recruitment to herpes simplex virus 1 transcription sites, where it undergoes proteasomal degradation during infection. J Virol **80:**3567-81.
- 51. Dang, Y., L. M. Siew, and Y. H. Zheng. 2008. APOBEC3G is degraded by the proteasomal pathway in a Vif-dependent manner without being polyubiquitylated. J Biol Chem 283:13124-31.



- 52. Davido, D. J., W. F. von Zagorski, W. S. Lane, and P. A. Schaffer. 2005.
 Phosphorylation site mutations affect herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 function. J Virol 79:1232-43.
- De Duve, C., and R. Wattiaux. 1966. Functions of lysosomes. Annu Rev Physiol 28:435-92.
- 54. **Delboy, M. G., J. L. Patterson, A. M. Hollander, and A. V. Nicola.** 2006. Nectin-2mediated entry of a syncytial strain of herpes simplex virus via pH-independent fusion with the plasma membrane of Chinese hamster ovary cells. Virol J **3**:105.
- 55. **Delboy, M. G., D. G. Roller, and A. V. Nicola.** 2008. Cellular proteasome activity facilitates herpes simplex virus entry at a postpenetration step. J Virol **82:**3381-90.
- 56. **Delboy, M. G., C. R. Siekavizza-Robles, and A. V. Nicola.** 2010. Herpes simplex virus tegument ICP0 is capsid associated, and its E3 ubiquitin ligase domain is important for incorporation into virions. J Virol **84:**1637-40.
- 57. **Delboy, M. G., Siekavizza-Robles, C.R., and Nicola, A.V.** In preparation. A preimmediate early role for tegument ICP0 in herpes simplex virus entry.
- 58. **DeLuca, N. A., and P. A. Schaffer.** 1985. Activation of immediate-early, early, and late promoters by temperature-sensitive and wild-type forms of herpes simplex virus type 1 protein ICP4. Mol Cell Biol **5**:1997-2008.
- Demartino, G. N., and T. G. Gillette. 2007. Proteasomes: machines for all reasons. Cell 129:659-62.
- 60. **Desai, P., and S. Person.** 1998. Incorporation of the green fluorescent protein into the herpes simplex virus type 1 capsid. J Virol **72:**7563-8.



- 61. **Desai, P., G. L. Sexton, J. M. McCaffery, and S. Person.** 2001. A null mutation in the gene encoding the herpes simplex virus type 1 UL37 polypeptide abrogates virus maturation. J Virol **75**:10259-71.
- Deshaies, R. J., and C. A. Joazeiro. 2009. RING domain E3 ubiquitin ligases. Annu Rev Biochem 78:399-434.
- 63. **Deveraux, Q., V. Ustrell, C. Pickart, and M. Rechsteiner.** 1994. A 26 S protease subunit that binds ubiquitin conjugates. J Biol Chem **269:**7059-61.
- 64. Dick, L. R., A. A. Cruikshank, L. Grenier, F. D. Melandri, S. L. Nunes, and R. L. Stein. 1996. Mechanistic studies on the inactivation of the proteasome by lactacystin: a central role for clasto-lactacystin beta-lactone. J Biol Chem 271:7273-6.
- Diefenbach, R. J., M. Miranda-Saksena, M. W. Douglas, and A. L. Cunningham.
 2008. Transport and egress of herpes simplex virus in neurons. Rev Med Virol 18:35-51.
- 66. **Dohner, K., K. Radtke, S. Schmidt, and B. Sodeik.** 2006. Eclipse phase of herpes simplex virus type 1 infection: Efficient dynein-mediated capsid transport without the small capsid protein VP26. J Virol **80**:8211-24.
- Dohner, K., A. Wolfstein, U. Prank, C. Echeverri, D. Dujardin, R. Vallee, and B.
 Sodeik. 2002. Function of dynein and dynactin in herpes simplex virus capsid transport.
 Mol Biol Cell 13:2795-809.
- Dolan, A., F. E. Jamieson, C. Cunningham, B. C. Barnett, and D. J. McGeoch. 1998.
 The genome sequence of herpes simplex virus type 2. J Virol 72:2010-21.
- Dollery, S. J., M. G. Delboy, and A. V. Nicola. 2010. Low pH-Induced Conformational Change in Herpes Simplex Virus Glycoprotein B. J Virol 84:3759-66.



- 70. **Dollery, S. J., K. D. Lane, M. G. Delboy, D. G. Roller, and A. V. Nicola.** 2010. Role of the UL45 protein in herpes simplex virus entry via low pH-dependent endocytosis and its relationship to the conformation and function of glycoprotein B. Virus Res **149**:115-8.
- 71. Douglas, M. W., R. J. Diefenbach, F. L. Homa, M. Miranda-Saksena, F. J. Rixon, V. Vittone, K. Byth, and A. L. Cunningham. 2004. Herpes simplex virus type 1 capsid protein VP26 interacts with dynein light chains RP3 and Tctex1 and plays a role in retrograde cellular transport. J Biol Chem 279:28522-30.
- Duffy, C., J. H. Lavail, A. N. Tauscher, E. G. Wills, J. A. Blaho, and J. D. Baines.
 2006. Characterization of a UL49-null mutant: VP22 of herpes simplex virus type 1
 facilitates viral spread in cultured cells and the mouse cornea. J Virol 80:8664-75.
- Fjercito, P. M., E. D. Kieff, and B. Roizman. 1968. Characterization of herpes simplex virus strains differing in their effects on social behaviour of infected cells. J Gen Virol 2:357-64.
- 74. Elliott, G., W. Hafezi, A. Whiteley, and E. Bernard. 2005. Deletion of the herpes simplex virus VP22-encoding gene (UL49) alters the expression, localization, and virion incorporation of ICP0. J Virol **79:**9735-45.
- 75. Enquist, L. W., P. J. Husak, B. W. Banfield, and G. A. Smith. 1998. Infection and spread of alphaherpesviruses in the nervous system. Adv Virus Res 51:237-347.
- Fom, C. Y., and I. R. Lehman. 2003. Replication-initiator protein (UL9) of the herpes simplex virus 1 binds NFB42 and is degraded via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway.
 Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:9803-7.



- 77. Etlinger, J. D., and A. L. Goldberg. 1977. A soluble ATP-dependent proteolytic system responsible for the degradation of abnormal proteins in reticulocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74:54-8.
- 78. Everett, R., P. O'Hare, D. O'Rourke, P. Barlow, and A. Orr. 1995. Point mutations in the herpes simplex virus type 1 Vmw110 RING finger helix affect activation of gene expression, viral growth, and interaction with PML-containing nuclear structures. J Virol 69:7339-44.
- Everett, R. D. 1985. Activation of cellular promoters during herpes virus infection of biochemically transformed cells. Embo J 4:1973-80.
- Everett, R. D. 1988. Analysis of the functional domains of herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early polypeptide Vmw110. J Mol Biol 202:87-96.
- Everett, R. D. 1989. Construction and characterization of herpes simplex virus type 1 mutants with defined lesions in immediate early gene 1. J Gen Virol 70 (Pt 5):1185-202.
- Everett, R. D. 1987. A detailed mutational analysis of Vmw110, a trans-acting transcriptional activator encoded by herpes simplex virus type 1. Embo J 6:2069-76.
- 83. **Everett, R. D.** 2000. ICPO induces the accumulation of colocalizing conjugated ubiquitin. J Virol **74:**9994-10005.
- Everett, R. D. 2000. ICPO, a regulator of herpes simplex virus during lytic and latent infection. Bioessays 22:761-70.
- 85. Everett, R. D. 1984. Trans activation of transcription by herpes virus products:
 requirement for two HSV-1 immediate-early polypeptides for maximum activity. Embo J
 3:3135-41.



- 86. Everett, R. D., C. Boutell, C. McNair, L. Grant, and A. Orr. 2010. Comparison of the biological and biochemical activities of several members of the alphaherpesvirus ICP0 family of proteins. J Virol 84:3476-87.
- 87. Everett, R. D., A. Cross, and A. Orr. 1993. A truncated form of herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein Vmw110 is expressed in a cell type dependent manner. Virology 197:751-6.
- 88. Everett, R. D., W. C. Earnshaw, J. Findlay, and P. Lomonte. 1999. Specific destruction of kinetochore protein CENP-C and disruption of cell division by herpes simplex virus immediate-early protein Vmw110. Embo J 18:1526-38.
- 89. Everett, R. D., P. Freemont, H. Saitoh, M. Dasso, A. Orr, M. Kathoria, and J. Parkinson. 1998. The disruption of ND10 during herpes simplex virus infection correlates with the Vmw110- and proteasome-dependent loss of several PML isoforms. J Virol 72:6581-91.
- 90. Everett, R. D., and G. G. Maul. 1994. HSV-1 IE protein Vmw110 causes redistribution of PML. Embo J 13:5062-9.
- 91. Everett, R. D., M. Meredith, and A. Orr. 1999. The ability of herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein Vmw110 to bind to a ubiquitin-specific protease contributes to its roles in the activation of gene expression and stimulation of virus replication. J Virol 73:417-26.
- 92. Everett, R. D., M. Meredith, A. Orr, A. Cross, M. Kathoria, and J. Parkinson. 1997.
 A novel ubiquitin-specific protease is dynamically associated with the PML nuclear domain and binds to a herpesvirus regulatory protein. Embo J 16:1519-30.



- 93. Everett, R. D., A. Orr, and M. Elliott. 1991. High level expression and purification of herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early polypeptide Vmw110. Nucleic Acids Res 19:6155-61.
- 94. Everett, R. D., C. Parada, P. Gripon, H. Sirma, and A. Orr. 2008. Replication of ICP0-null mutant herpes simplex virus type 1 is restricted by both PML and Sp100. J Virol 82:2661-72.
- 95. Everett, R. D., S. Rechter, P. Papior, N. Tavalai, T. Stamminger, and A. Orr. 2006. PML contributes to a cellular mechanism of repression of herpes simplex virus type 1 infection that is inactivated by ICP0. J Virol 80:7995-8005.
- 96. Falke, D., A. Knoblich, and S. Muller. 1985. Fusion from without induced by herpes simplex virus type 1. Intervirology 24:211-9.
- 97. Farnsworth, A., T. W. Wisner, and D. C. Johnson. 2007. Cytoplasmic residues of herpes simplex virus glycoprotein gE required for secondary envelopment and binding of tegument proteins VP22 and UL11 to gE and gD. J Virol 81:319-31.
- 98. Farnsworth, A., T. W. Wisner, M. Webb, R. Roller, G. Cohen, R. Eisenberg, and D. C. Johnson. 2007. Herpes simplex virus glycoproteins gB and gH function in fusion between the virion envelope and the outer nuclear membrane. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:10187-92.
- 99. Fatahzadeh, M., and R. A. Schwartz. 2007. Human herpes simplex virus infections: epidemiology, pathogenesis, symptomatology, diagnosis, and management. J Am Acad Dermatol 57:737-63; quiz 764-6.



- 100. Fenteany, G., R. F. Standaert, W. S. Lane, S. Choi, E. J. Corey, and S. L. Schreiber. 1995. Inhibition of proteasome activities and subunit-specific amino-terminal threonine modification by lactacystin. Science 268:726-31.
- 101. Fenwick, M. L., and M. M. McMenamin. 1984. Early virion-associated suppression of cellular protein synthesis by herpes simplex virus is accompanied by inactivation of mRNA. J Gen Virol 65 (Pt 7):1225-8.
- 102. Forrester, A., H. Farrell, G. Wilkinson, J. Kaye, N. Davis-Poynter, and T. Minson. 1992. Construction and properties of a mutant of herpes simplex virus type 1 with glycoprotein H coding sequences deleted. J Virol 66:341-8.
- Freemont, P. S. 1993. The RING finger. A novel protein sequence motif related to the zinc finger. Ann N Y Acad Sci 684:174-92.
- 104. Fruh, K., Y. Yang, D. Arnold, J. Chambers, L. Wu, J. B. Waters, T. Spies, and P. A. Peterson. 1992. Alternative exon usage and processing of the major histocompatibility complex-encoded proteasome subunits. J Biol Chem 267:22131-40.
- 105. Fuller, A. O., and P. G. Spear. 1987. Anti-glycoprotein D antibodies that permit adsorption but block infection by herpes simplex virus 1 prevent virion-cell fusion at the cell surface. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:5454-8.
- 106. Fulmer, P. A., J. M. Melancon, J. D. Baines, and K. G. Kousoulas. 2007. UL20 protein functions precede and are required for the UL11 functions of herpes simplex virus type 1 cytoplasmic virion envelopment. J Virol 81:3097-108.
- 107. Fusco, D., C. Forghieri, and G. Campadelli-Fiume. 2005. The pro-fusion domain of herpes simplex virus glycoprotein D (gD) interacts with the gD N terminus and is displaced by soluble forms of viral receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:9323-8.



- 108. Fusconi, M., F. Cassani, M. Govoni, A. Caselli, F. Farabegoli, M. Lenzi, G. Ballardini, D. Zauli, and F. B. Bianchi. 1991. Anti-nuclear antibodies of primary biliary cirrhosis recognize 78-92-kD and 96-100-kD proteins of nuclear bodies. Clin Exp Immunol 83:291-7.
- 109. Geier, E., G. Pfeifer, M. Wilm, M. Lucchiari-Hartz, W. Baumeister, K. Eichmann, and G. Niedermann. 1999. A giant protease with potential to substitute for some functions of the proteasome. Science 283:978-81.
- 110. Gelman, I. H., and S. Silverstein. 1986. Co-ordinate regulation of herpes simplex virus gene expression is mediated by the functional interaction of two immediate early gene products. J Mol Biol 191:395-409.
- 111. Geraghty, R. J., C. Krummenacher, G. H. Cohen, R. J. Eisenberg, and P. G. Spear.
 1998. Entry of alphaherpesviruses mediated by poliovirus receptor-related protein 1 and
 poliovirus receptor. Science 280:1618-20.
- 112. Gianni, T., G. Campadelli-Fiume, and L. Menotti. 2004. Entry of herpes simplex virus mediated by chimeric forms of nectin1 retargeted to endosomes or to lipid rafts occurs through acidic endosomes. J Virol 78:12268-76.
- 113. Gibson, W., and B. Roizman. 1971. Compartmentalization of spermine and spermidine in the herpes simplex virion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 68:2818-21.
- 114. Gius, D., and L. A. Laimins. 1989. Activation of human papillomavirus type 18 gene expression by herpes simplex virus type 1 viral transactivators and a phorbol ester. J Virol 63:555-63.
- Glickman, M. H., D. M. Rubin, O. Coux, I. Wefes, G. Pfeifer, Z. Cjeka, W.
 Baumeister, V. A. Fried, and D. Finley. 1998. A subcomplex of the proteasome



regulatory particle required for ubiquitin-conjugate degradation and related to the COP9signalosome and eIF3. Cell **94:**615-23.

- 116. **Goldberg, A. L.** 2007. Functions of the proteasome: from protein degradation and immune surveillance to cancer therapy. Biochem Soc Trans **35**:12-7.
- 117. Gottlieb, J., A. I. Marcy, D. M. Coen, and M. D. Challberg. 1990. The herpes simplex virus type 1 UL42 gene product: a subunit of DNA polymerase that functions to increase processivity. J Virol 64:5976-87.
- 118. Greaves, R., and P. O'Hare. 1989. Separation of requirements for protein-DNA complex assembly from those for functional activity in the herpes simplex virus regulatory protein Vmw65. J Virol 63:1641-50.
- 119. Groll, M., M. Bajorek, A. Kohler, L. Moroder, D. M. Rubin, R. Huber, M. H. Glickman, and D. Finley. 2000. A gated channel into the proteasome core particle. Nat Struct Biol 7:1062-7.
- Groll, M., L. Ditzel, J. Lowe, D. Stock, M. Bochtler, H. D. Bartunik, and R. Huber.
 1997. Structure of 20S proteasome from yeast at 2.4 A resolution. Nature 386:463-71.
- 121. Groll, M., Kim, K., Kairies, N., Huber, R., and Crews, C. 2000. Crystal Structure of Epoxomicin:20S Proteasome Reveals a Molecular Basis for Selectivity of α^c,β^c Epoxyketone Proteasome Inhibitors
- . J. Am. Chem. Soc. **122:**1237–1238.
- 122. Grunewald, K., P. Desai, D. C. Winkler, J. B. Heymann, D. M. Belnap, W. Baumeister, and A. C. Steven. 2003. Three-dimensional structure of herpes simplex virus from cryo-electron tomography. Science 302:1396-8.



- Haas, A. L., P. M. Bright, and V. E. Jackson. 1988. Functional diversity among putative E2 isozymes in the mechanism of ubiquitin-histone ligation. J Biol Chem 263:13268-75.
- 124. Haas, A. L., J. V. Warms, A. Hershko, and I. A. Rose. 1982. Ubiquitin-activating enzyme. Mechanism and role in protein-ubiquitin conjugation. J Biol Chem **257:**2543-8.
- 125. Hagglund, R., and B. Roizman. 2004. Role of ICP0 in the strategy of conquest of the host cell by herpes simplex virus 1. J Virol 78:2169-78.
- 126. Hanada, M., K. Sugawara, K. Kaneta, S. Toda, Y. Nishiyama, K. Tomita, H. Yamamoto, M. Konishi, and T. Oki. 1992. Epoxomicin, a new antitumor agent of microbial origin. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 45:1746-52.
- 127. Handler, C. G., R. J. Eisenberg, and G. H. Cohen. 1996. Oligomeric structure of glycoproteins in herpes simplex virus type 1. J Virol 70:6067-70.
- 128. Hannah, B. P., T. M. Cairns, F. C. Bender, J. C. Whitbeck, H. Lou, R. J. Eisenberg, and G. H. Cohen. 2009. Herpes simplex virus glycoprotein B associates with target membranes via its fusion loops. J Virol 83:6825-36.
- Hannah, B. P., E. E. Heldwein, F. C. Bender, G. H. Cohen, and R. J. Eisenberg.
 2007. Mutational evidence of internal fusion loops in herpes simplex virus glycoprotein
 B. J Virol 81:4858-65.
- 130. Harle, P., B. Sainz, Jr., D. J. Carr, and W. P. Halford. 2002. The immediate-early protein, ICPO, is essential for the resistance of herpes simplex virus to interferonalpha/beta. Virology 293:295-304.
- 131. Heine, J. W., R. W. Honess, E. Cassai, and B. Roizman. 1974. Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. XII. The virion polypeptides of type 1 strains. J Virol 14:640-51.



- 132. Heinemeyer, W., M. Fischer, T. Krimmer, U. Stachon, and D. H. Wolf. 1997. The active sites of the eukaryotic 20 S proteasome and their involvement in subunit precursor processing. J Biol Chem 272:25200-9.
- 133. Heinemeyer, W., N. Trondle, G. Albrecht, and D. H. Wolf. 1994. PRE5 and PRE6, the last missing genes encoding 20S proteasome subunits from yeast? Indication for a set of 14 different subunits in the eukaryotic proteasome core. Biochemistry 33:12229-37.
- Heldwein, E. E., and C. Krummenacher. 2008. Entry of herpesviruses into mammalian cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 65:1653-68.
- Heldwein, E. E., H. Lou, F. C. Bender, G. H. Cohen, R. J. Eisenberg, and S. C.
 Harrison. 2006. Crystal structure of glycoprotein B from herpes simplex virus 1. Science 313:217-20.
- 136. Herold, B. C., R. J. Visalli, N. Susmarski, C. R. Brandt, and P. G. Spear. 1994. Glycoprotein C-independent binding of herpes simplex virus to cells requires cell surface heparan sulphate and glycoprotein B. J Gen Virol 75 (Pt 6):1211-22.
- 137. Herold, B. C., D. WuDunn, N. Soltys, and P. G. Spear. 1991. Glycoprotein C of herpes simplex virus type 1 plays a principal role in the adsorption of virus to cells and in infectivity. J Virol 65:1090-8.
- 138. Hershko, A., and A. Ciechanover. 1998. The ubiquitin system. Annu Rev Biochem67:425-79.
- 139. Hershko, A., A. Ciechanover, H. Heller, A. L. Haas, and I. A. Rose. 1980. Proposed role of ATP in protein breakdown: conjugation of protein with multiple chains of the polypeptide of ATP-dependent proteolysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77:1783-6.



- Hershko, A., and H. Heller. 1985. Occurrence of a polyubiquitin structure in ubiquitinprotein conjugates. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 128:1079-86.
- 141. Hershko, A., H. Heller, S. Elias, and A. Ciechanover. 1983. Components of ubiquitinprotein ligase system. Resolution, affinity purification, and role in protein breakdown. J Biol Chem 258:8206-14.
- 142. Hershko, A., H. Heller, E. Eytan, and Y. Reiss. 1986. The protein substrate binding site of the ubiquitin-protein ligase system. J Biol Chem 261:11992-9.
- Homa, F. L., and J. C. Brown. 1997. Capsid assembly and DNA packaging in herpes simplex virus. Rev Med Virol 7:107-122.
- Hough, R., G. Pratt, and M. Rechsteiner. 1986. Ubiquitin-lysozyme conjugates.
 Identification and characterization of an ATP-dependent protease from rabbit reticulocyte lysates. J Biol Chem 261:2400-8.
- 145. Huang, A. S., and R. R. Wagner. 1964. Penetration Of Herpes Simplex Virus Into Human Epidermoid Cells. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 116:863-9.
- 146. Hutchinson, I., A. Whiteley, H. Browne, and G. Elliott. 2002. Sequential localization of two herpes simplex virus tegument proteins to punctate nuclear dots adjacent to ICP0 domains. J Virol 76:10365-73.
- 147. Jacob, R. J., and B. Roizman. 1977. Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA VIII.Properties of the replicating DNA. J Virol 23:394-411.
- 148. Jovasevic, V., L. Liang, and B. Roizman. 2008. Proteolytic cleavage of VP1-2 is required for release of herpes simplex virus 1 DNA into the nucleus. J Virol 82:3311-9.
- Jung, T., B. Catalgol, and T. Grune. 2009. The proteasomal system. Mol Aspects Med 30:191-296.



- 150. Kaerner, H. C., C. H. Schroder, A. Ott-Hartmann, G. Kumel, and H. Kirchner. 1983. Genetic variability of herpes simplex virus: development of a pathogenic variant during passaging of a nonpathogenic herpes simplex virus type 1 virus strain in mouse brain. J Virol 46:83-93.
- 151. Kalamvoki, M., and B. Roizman. 2008. Nuclear retention of ICP0 in cells exposed to HDAC inhibitor or transfected with DNA before infection with herpes simplex virus 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:20488-93.
- 152. Kaletsky, R. L., G. Simmons, and P. Bates. 2007. Proteolysis of the Ebola virus glycoproteins enhances virus binding and infectivity. J Virol 81:13378-84.
- 153. Kamen, D. E., S. T. Gross, M. E. Girvin, and D. W. Wilson. 2005. Structural basis for the physiological temperature dependence of the association of VP16 with the cytoplasmic tail of herpes simplex virus glycoprotein H. J Virol **79:**6134-41.
- 154. Kato, A., J. Arii, I. Shiratori, H. Akashi, H. Arase, and Y. Kawaguchi. 2009. Herpes simplex virus 1 protein kinase Us3 phosphorylates viral envelope glycoprotein B and regulates its expression on the cell surface. J Virol 83:250-61.
- 155. Kattenhorn, L. M., G. A. Korbel, B. M. Kessler, E. Spooner, and H. L. Ploegh. 2005. A deubiquitinating enzyme encoded by HSV-1 belongs to a family of cysteine proteases that is conserved across the family Herpesviridae. Mol Cell 19:547-57.
- 156. Kawaguchi, Y., R. Bruni, and B. Roizman. 1997. Interaction of herpes simplex virus 1 alpha regulatory protein ICP0 with elongation factor 1delta: ICP0 affects translational machinery. J Virol 71:1019-24.
- 157. Kelly, B. J., C. Fraefel, A. L. Cunningham, and R. J. Diefenbach. 2009. Functional roles of the tegument proteins of herpes simplex virus type 1. Virus Res 145:173-86.



- 158. Kerscher, O., R. Felberbaum, and M. Hochstrasser. 2006. Modification of proteins by ubiquitin and ubiquitin-like proteins. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol **22**:159-80.
- 159. Khor, R., L. J. McElroy, and G. R. Whittaker. 2003. The ubiquitin-vacuolar protein sorting system is selectively required during entry of influenza virus into host cells. Traffic 4:857-68.
- 160. Kisselev, A. F., T. N. Akopian, V. Castillo, and A. L. Goldberg. 1999. Proteasome active sites allosterically regulate each other, suggesting a cyclical bite-chew mechanism for protein breakdown. Mol Cell 4:395-402.
- 161. Kisselev, A. F., T. N. Akopian, K. M. Woo, and A. L. Goldberg. 1999. The sizes of peptides generated from protein by mammalian 26 and 20 S proteasomes. Implications for understanding the degradative mechanism and antigen presentation. J Biol Chem 274:3363-71.
- 162. Kisselev, A. F., A. Callard, and A. L. Goldberg. 2006. Importance of the different proteolytic sites of the proteasome and the efficacy of inhibitors varies with the protein substrate. J Biol Chem 281:8582-90.
- Kisselev, A. F., and A. L. Goldberg. 2001. Proteasome inhibitors: from research tools to drug candidates. Chem Biol 8:739-58.
- 164. Klupp, B. G., H. Granzow, W. Fuchs, G. M. Keil, S. Finke, and T. C. Mettenleiter.
 2007. Vesicle formation from the nuclear membrane is induced by coexpression of two conserved herpesvirus proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:7241-6.
- 165. Kohler, A., P. Cascio, D. S. Leggett, K. M. Woo, A. L. Goldberg, and D. Finley.
 2001. The axial channel of the proteasome core particle is gated by the Rpt2 ATPase and controls both substrate entry and product release. Mol Cell 7:1143-52.



- 166. Koyama, A. H., and T. Uchida. 1987. The mode of entry of herpes simplex virus type 1 into Vero cells. Microbiol Immunol 31:123-30.
- 167. Krautwald, M., W. Fuchs, B. G. Klupp, and T. C. Mettenleiter. 2009. Translocation of incoming pseudorabies virus capsids to the cell nucleus is delayed in the absence of tegument protein pUL37. J Virol 83:3389-96.
- Kwong, A. D., J. A. Kruper, and N. Frenkel. 1988. Herpes simplex virus virion host shutoff function. J Virol 62:912-21.
- La Boissiere, S., T. Hughes, and P. O'Hare. 1999. HCF-dependent nuclear import of VP16. Embo J 18:480-9.
- 170. Lam, Y. A., W. Xu, G. N. DeMartino, and R. E. Cohen. 1997. Editing of ubiquitin conjugates by an isopeptidase in the 26S proteasome. Nature **385**:737-40.
- 171. Lavau, C., A. Marchio, M. Fagioli, J. Jansen, B. Falini, P. Lebon, F. Grosveld, P. P. Pandolfi, P. G. Pelicci, and A. Dejean. 1995. The acute promyelocytic leukaemia-associated PML gene is induced by interferon. Oncogene 11:871-6.
- 172. Lavin, M. F., and N. Gueven. 2006. The complexity of p53 stabilization and activation. Cell Death Differ 13:941-50.
- Lee, D. H., and A. L. Goldberg. 1996. Selective inhibitors of the proteasome-dependent and vacuolar pathways of protein degradation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 271:27280-4.
- 174. Lee, J. I., G. W. Luxton, and G. A. Smith. 2006. Identification of an essential domain in the herpesvirus VP1/2 tegument protein: the carboxy terminus directs incorporation into capsid assemblons. J Virol 80:12086-94.



- 175. Leib, D. A., D. M. Coen, C. L. Bogard, K. A. Hicks, D. R. Yager, D. M. Knipe, K. L. Tyler, and P. A. Schaffer. 1989. Immediate-early regulatory gene mutants define different stages in the establishment and reactivation of herpes simplex virus latency. J Virol 63:759-68.
- 176. Lomonte, P., K. F. Sullivan, and R. D. Everett. 2001. Degradation of nucleosomeassociated centromeric histone H3-like protein CENP-A induced by herpes simplex virus type 1 protein ICP0. J Biol Chem 276:5829-35.
- 177. Loomis, J. S., R. J. Courtney, and J. W. Wills. 2003. Binding partners for the UL11 tegument protein of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Virol 77:11417-24.
- Lopez, P., C. Van Sant, and B. Roizman. 2001. Requirements for the nuclearcytoplasmic translocation of infected-cell protein 0 of herpes simplex virus 1. J Virol 75:3832-40.
- 179. Lorenz, H., D. W. Hailey, C. Wunder, and J. Lippincott-Schwartz. 2006. The fluorescence protease protection (FPP) assay to determine protein localization and membrane topology. Nat Protoc 1:276-9.
- Loret, S., G. Guay, and R. Lippe. 2008. Comprehensive characterization of extracellular herpes simplex virus type 1 virions. J Virol 82:8605-18.
- 181. Lowe, J., D. Stock, B. Jap, P. Zwickl, W. Baumeister, and R. Huber. 1995. Crystal structure of the 20S proteasome from the archaeon T. acidophilum at 3.4 A resolution. Science 268:533-9.
- 182. Luxton, G. W., S. Haverlock, K. E. Coller, S. E. Antinone, A. Pincetic, and G. A. Smith. 2005. Targeting of herpesvirus capsid transport in axons is coupled to association with specific sets of tegument proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:5832-7.



- 183. Luxton, G. W., J. I. Lee, S. Haverlock-Moyns, J. M. Schober, and G. A. Smith. 2006. The pseudorabies virus VP1/2 tegument protein is required for intracellular capsid transport. J Virol 80:201-9.
- 184. Maringer, K., and G. Elliott. 2010. Recruitment of the Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Immediate-Early Protein ICP0 to the Virus Particle. J Virol 84:4682-96.
- 185. Maul, G. G., and R. D. Everett. 1994. The nuclear location of PML, a cellular member of the C3HC4 zinc-binding domain protein family, is rearranged during herpes simplex virus infection by the C3HC4 viral protein ICP0. J Gen Virol 75 (Pt 6):1223-33.
- 186. Maul, G. G., H. H. Guldner, and J. G. Spivack. 1993. Modification of discrete nuclear domains induced by herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early gene 1 product (ICP0). J Gen Virol 74 (Pt 12):2679-90.
- 187. Maul, G. G., A. M. Ishov, and R. D. Everett. 1996. Nuclear domain 10 as preexisting potential replication start sites of herpes simplex virus type-1. Virology 217:67-75.
- 188. Maurer, U. E., B. Sodeik, and K. Grunewald. 2008. Native 3D intermediates of membrane fusion in herpes simplex virus 1 entry. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:10559-64.
- 189. Mavromara-Nazos, P., S. Silver, J. Hubenthal-Voss, J. L. McKnight, and B.
 Roizman. 1986. Regulation of herpes simplex virus 1 genes: alpha gene sequence requirements for transient induction of indicator genes regulated by beta or late (gamma 2) promoters. Virology 149:152-64.
- McGeoch, D. J., M. A. Dalrymple, A. J. Davison, A. Dolan, M. C. Frame, D. McNab,
 L. J. Perry, J. E. Scott, and P. Taylor. 1988. The complete DNA sequence of the long



unique region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Gen Virol **69** (**Pt 7**):1531-74.

- McGeoch, D. J., A. Dolan, S. Donald, and F. J. Rixon. 1985. Sequence determination and genetic content of the short unique region in the genome of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Mol Biol 181:1-13.
- 192. McGeoch, D. J., F. J. Rixon, and A. J. Davison. 2006. Topics in herpesvirus genomics and evolution. Virus Res 117:90-104.
- McNabb, D. S., and R. J. Courtney. 1992. Analysis of the UL36 open reading frame encoding the large tegument protein (ICP1/2) of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Virol 66:7581-4.
- 194. Meckes, D. G., Jr., and J. W. Wills. 2008. Structural rearrangement within an enveloped virus upon binding to the host cell. J Virol 82:10429-35.
- 195. Meng, L., R. Mohan, B. H. Kwok, M. Elofsson, N. Sin, and C. M. Crews. 1999. Epoxomicin, a potent and selective proteasome inhibitor, exhibits in vivo antiinflammatory activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:10403-8.
- 196. Meredith, M., A. Orr, M. Elliott, and R. Everett. 1995. Separation of sequence requirements for HSV-1 Vmw110 multimerisation and interaction with a 135-kDa cellular protein. Virology 209:174-87.
- 197. Mettenleiter, T. C. 2002. Herpesvirus assembly and egress. J Virol 76:1537-47.
- Mettenleiter, T. C., B. G. Klupp, and H. Granzow. 2009. Herpesvirus assembly: an update. Virus Res 143:222-34.
- 199. Mettenleiter, T. C., and T. Minson. 2006. Egress of alphaherpesviruses. J Virol 80:1610-1; author reply 1611-2.



- 200. Mijatov, B., A. L. Cunningham, and R. J. Diefenbach. 2007. Residues F593 and E596 of HSV-1 tegument protein pUL36 (VP1/2) mediate binding of tegument protein pUL37. Virology 368:26-31.
- 201. Miranda-Saksena, M., R. A. Boadle, P. Armati, and A. L. Cunningham. 2002. In rat dorsal root ganglion neurons, herpes simplex virus type 1 tegument forms in the cytoplasm of the cell body. J Virol 76:9934-51.
- 202. Montgomery, R. I., M. S. Warner, B. J. Lum, and P. G. Spear. 1996. Herpes simplex virus-1 entry into cells mediated by a novel member of the TNF/NGF receptor family. Cell 87:427-36.
- 203. Morrison, E. E., Y. F. Wang, and D. M. Meredith. 1998. Phosphorylation of structural components promotes dissociation of the herpes simplex virus type 1 tegument. J Virol 72:7108-14.
- Mosesson, Y., and Y. Yarden. 2006. Monoubiquitylation: a recurrent theme in membrane protein transport. Isr Med Assoc J 8:233-7.
- 205. Mossman, K. L., H. A. Saffran, and J. R. Smiley. 2000. Herpes simplex virus ICP0 mutants are hypersensitive to interferon. J Virol 74:2052-6.
- 206. Mossman, K. L., R. Sherburne, C. Lavery, J. Duncan, and J. R. Smiley. 2000. Evidence that herpes simplex virus VP16 is required for viral egress downstream of the initial envelopment event. J Virol 74:6287-99.
- 207. Mou, F., E. G. Wills, R. Park, and J. D. Baines. 2008. Effects of lamin A/C, lamin B1, and viral US3 kinase activity on viral infectivity, virion egress, and the targeting of herpes simplex virus U(L)34-encoded protein to the inner nuclear membrane. J Virol 82:8094-104.



- 208. Mullen, M. A., D. M. Ciufo, and G. S. Hayward. 1994. Mapping of intracellular localization domains and evidence for colocalization interactions between the IE110 and IE175 nuclear transactivator proteins of herpes simplex virus. J Virol 68:3250-66.
- 209. Murphy, M. A., M. A. Bucks, K. J. O'Regan, and R. J. Courtney. 2008. The HSV-1 tegument protein pUL46 associates with cellular membranes and viral capsids. Virology 376:279-89.
- 210. Naldinho-Souto, R., H. Browne, and T. Minson. 2006. Herpes simplex virus tegument protein VP16 is a component of primary enveloped virions. J Virol 80:2582-4.
- 211. Narayanan, A., M. L. Nogueira, W. T. Ruyechan, and T. M. Kristie. 2005.
 Combinatorial transcription of herpes simplex virus and varicella zoster virus immediate early genes is strictly determined by the cellular coactivator HCF-1. J Biol Chem 280:1369-75.
- Newcomb, W. W., and J. C. Brown. 2009. Time-dependent transformation of the herpesvirus tegument. J Virol 83:8082-9.
- 213. Nicola, A. V., J. Hou, E. O. Major, and S. E. Straus. 2005. Herpes simplex virus type 1 enters human epidermal keratinocytes, but not neurons, via a pH-dependent endocytic pathway. J Virol **79:**7609-16.
- 214. Nicola, A. V., A. M. McEvoy, and S. E. Straus. 2003. Roles for endocytosis and low pH in herpes simplex virus entry into HeLa and Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Virol 77:5324-32.
- Nicola, A. V., and S. E. Straus. 2004. Cellular and viral requirements for rapid endocytic entry of herpes simplex virus. J Virol 78:7508-17.



- 216. Nogueira, M. L., V. E. Wang, D. Tantin, P. A. Sharp, and T. M. Kristie. 2004.
 Herpes simplex virus infections are arrested in Oct-1-deficient cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:1473-8.
- 217. **Ojala, P. M., B. Sodeik, M. W. Ebersold, U. Kutay, and A. Helenius.** 2000. Herpes simplex virus type 1 entry into host cells: reconstitution of capsid binding and uncoating at the nuclear pore complex in vitro. Mol Cell Biol **20**:4922-31.
- Olivo, P. D., N. J. Nelson, and M. D. Challberg. 1989. Herpes simplex virus type 1 gene products required for DNA replication: identification and overexpression. J Virol 63:196-204.
- 219. Orlando, J. S., J. W. Balliet, A. S. Kushnir, T. L. Astor, M. Kosz-Vnenchak, S. A. Rice, D. M. Knipe, and P. A. Schaffer. 2006. ICP22 is required for wild-type composition and infectivity of herpes simplex virus type 1 virions. J Virol 80:9381-90.
- Ostrowska, H., C. Wojcik, S. Omura, and K. Worowski. 1997. Lactacystin, a specific inhibitor of the proteasome, inhibits human platelet lysosomal cathepsin A-like enzyme. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 234:729-32.
- 221. **Park, R., and J. D. Baines.** 2006. Herpes simplex virus type 1 infection induces activation and recruitment of protein kinase C to the nuclear membrane and increased phosphorylation of lamin B. J Virol **80:**494-504.
- 222. Parkinson, J., and R. D. Everett. 2001. Alphaherpesvirus proteins related to herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 induce the formation of colocalizing, conjugated ubiquitin. J Virol 75:5357-62.



- 223. **Parkinson, J., S. P. Lees-Miller, and R. D. Everett.** 1999. Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein vmw110 induces the proteasome-dependent degradation of the catalytic subunit of DNA-dependent protein kinase. J Virol **73:**650-7.
- 224. Pellet, P. E., Roizman, B. 2007. The Family Herpesviridae: A Brief Introduction. Fields virology IN: Knipe, D.M., Howley, P.M. (Eds):2479-2500.
- 225. Peng, T., M. Ponce-de-Leon, H. Jiang, G. Dubin, J. M. Lubinski, R. J. Eisenberg, and G. H. Cohen. 1998. The gH-gL complex of herpes simplex virus (HSV) stimulates neutralizing antibody and protects mice against HSV type 1 challenge. J Virol **72:**65-72.
- Pickart, C. M., and I. A. Rose. 1985. Functional heterogeneity of ubiquitin carrier proteins. J Biol Chem 260:1573-81.
- 227. **Prakash, S., T. Inobe, A. J. Hatch, and A. Matouschek.** 2009. Substrate selection by the proteasome during degradation of protein complexes. Nat Chem Biol **5**:29-36.
- 228. Prakash, S., L. Tian, K. S. Ratliff, R. E. Lehotzky, and A. Matouschek. 2004. An unstructured initiation site is required for efficient proteasome-mediated degradation. Nat Struct Mol Biol 11:830-7.
- 229. Preston, C. M., R. Mabbs, and M. J. Nicholl. 1997. Construction and characterization of herpes simplex virus type 1 mutants with conditional defects in immediate early gene expression. Virology 229:228-39.
- Quinlan, M. P., and D. M. Knipe. 1985. Stimulation of expression of a herpes simplex virus DNA-binding protein by two viral functions. Mol Cell Biol 5:957-63.
- 231. Rajcani, J., V. Andrea, and R. Ingeborg. 2004. Peculiarities of herpes simplex virus (HSV) transcription: an overview. Virus Genes 28:293-310.



- Rajcani, J., and V. Durmanova. 2001. Mechanisms of replication of alpha- and betaherpesviruses and their pathogenesis. Bratisl Lek Listy 102:505-14.
- 233. Rao, H., and A. Sastry. 2002. Recognition of specific ubiquitin conjugates is important for the proteolytic functions of the ubiquitin-associated domain proteins Dsk2 and Rad23. J Biol Chem 277:11691-5.
- 234. Read, G. S., and N. Frenkel. 1983. Herpes simplex virus mutants defective in the virion-associated shutoff of host polypeptide synthesis and exhibiting abnormal synthesis of alpha (immediate early) viral polypeptides. J Virol 46:498-512.
- 235. Realini, C., W. Dubiel, G. Pratt, K. Ferrell, and M. Rechsteiner. 1994. Molecular cloning and expression of a gamma-interferon-inducible activator of the multicatalytic protease. J Biol Chem 269:20727-32.
- 236. Rock, K. L., C. Gramm, L. Rothstein, K. Clark, R. Stein, L. Dick, D. Hwang, and A. L. Goldberg. 1994. Inhibitors of the proteasome block the degradation of most cell proteins and the generation of peptides presented on MHC class I molecules. Cell 78:761-71.
- 237. Roizman, B., Knipe, D.M. Whitely, R.J. 2007. Herpes simplex virus. Fields virology In: Knipe, D.M., Howley, P.M. (Eds):2501-2601.
- 238. Roller, D. G., S. J. Dollery, J. L. Doyle, and A. V. Nicola. 2008. Structure-function analysis of herpes simplex virus glycoprotein B with fusion-from-without activity. Virology 382:207-16.
- 239. Ros, C., C. J. Burckhardt, and C. Kempf. 2002. Cytoplasmic trafficking of minute virus of mice: low-pH requirement, routing to late endosomes, and proteasome interaction. J Virol 76:12634-45.



- 240. **Ros, C., and C. Kempf.** 2004. The ubiquitin-proteasome machinery is essential for nuclear translocation of incoming minute virus of mice. Virology **324:**350-60.
- 241. Russell, J., N. D. Stow, E. C. Stow, and C. M. Preston. 1987. Herpes simplex virus genes involved in latency in vitro. J Gen Virol 68 (Pt 12):3009-18.
- 242. Sacks, W. R., and P. A. Schaffer. 1987. Deletion mutants in the gene encoding the herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein ICP0 exhibit impaired growth in cell culture. J Virol 61:829-39.
- 243. Saeki, Y., T. Kudo, T. Sone, Y. Kikuchi, H. Yokosawa, A. Toh-e, and K. Tanaka.
 2009. Lysine 63-linked polyubiquitin chain may serve as a targeting signal for the 26S proteasome. Embo J 28:359-71.
- Samaniego, L. A., L. Neiderhiser, and N. A. DeLuca. 1998. Persistence and expression of the herpes simplex virus genome in the absence of immediate-early proteins. J Virol 72:3307-20.
- 245. Satoh, T., J. Arii, T. Suenaga, J. Wang, A. Kogure, J. Uehori, N. Arase, I. Shiratori, S. Tanaka, Y. Kawaguchi, P. G. Spear, L. L. Lanier, and H. Arase. 2008. PILRalpha is a herpes simplex virus-1 entry coreceptor that associates with glycoprotein B. Cell 132:935-44.
- Schrader, E. K., K. G. Harstad, and A. Matouschek. 2009. Targeting proteins for degradation. Nat Chem Biol 5:815-22.
- 247. Schrag, J. D., B. V. Prasad, F. J. Rixon, and W. Chiu. 1989. Three-dimensional structure of the HSV1 nucleocapsid. Cell 56:651-60.



- 248. Sedlackova, L., and S. A. Rice. 2008. Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein ICP27 is required for efficient incorporation of ICP0 and ICP4 into virions. J Virol 82:268-77.
- Seemuller, E., A. Lupas, D. Stock, J. Lowe, R. Huber, and W. Baumeister. 1995.
 Proteasome from Thermoplasma acidophilum: a threonine protease. Science 268:579-82.
- 250. Shanda, S. K., and D. W. Wilson. 2008. UL36p is required for efficient transport of membrane-associated herpes simplex virus type 1 along microtubules. J Virol 82:7388-94.
- 251. Shukla, D., J. Liu, P. Blaiklock, N. W. Shworak, X. Bai, J. D. Esko, G. H. Cohen, R. J. Eisenberg, R. D. Rosenberg, and P. G. Spear. 1999. A novel role for 3-O-sulfated heparan sulfate in herpes simplex virus 1 entry. Cell 99:13-22.
- 252. Sodeik, B., M. W. Ebersold, and A. Helenius. 1997. Microtubule-mediated transport of incoming herpes simplex virus 1 capsids to the nucleus. J Cell Biol **136**:1007-21.
- 253. Spear, P. G., R. J. Eisenberg, and G. H. Cohen. 2000. Three classes of cell surface receptors for alphaherpesvirus entry. Virology 275:1-8.
- Spear, P. G., and R. Longnecker. 2003. Herpesvirus entry: an update. J Virol 77:10179-85.
- 255. Spear, P. G., and B. Roizman. 1972. Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. V.Purification and structural proteins of the herpesvirion. J Virol 9:143-59.
- Stoopler, E. T., and M. S. Greenberg. 2003. Update on herpesvirus infections. Dent Clin North Am 47:517-32.



- 257. **Stow, N. D., and E. C. Stow.** 1986. Isolation and characterization of a herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant containing a deletion within the gene encoding the immediate early polypeptide Vmw110. J Gen Virol **67** (**Pt 12**):2571-85.
- 258. Strehl, B., U. Seifert, E. Kruger, S. Heink, U. Kuckelkorn, and P. M. Kloetzel. 2005. Interferon-gamma, the functional plasticity of the ubiquitin-proteasome system, and MHC class I antigen processing. Immunol Rev 207:19-30.
- 259. Szostecki, C., H. H. Guldner, H. J. Netter, and H. Will. 1990. Isolation and characterization of cDNA encoding a human nuclear antigen predominantly recognized by autoantibodies from patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. J Immunol **145**:4338-47.
- 260. Thrower, J. S., L. Hoffman, M. Rechsteiner, and C. M. Pickart. 2000. Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal. Embo J 19:94-102.
- 261. Tsubuki, S., Y. Saito, M. Tomioka, H. Ito, and S. Kawashima. 1996. Differential inhibition of calpain and proteasome activities by peptidyl aldehydes of di-leucine and tri-leucine. J Biochem 119:572-6.
- 262. **Turner, A., B. Bruun, T. Minson, and H. Browne.** 1998. Glycoproteins gB, gD, and gHgL of herpes simplex virus type 1 are necessary and sufficient to mediate membrane fusion in a Cos cell transfection system. J Virol **72:**873-5.
- 263. Van Sant, C., R. Hagglund, P. Lopez, and B. Roizman. 2001. The infected cell protein 0 of herpes simplex virus 1 dynamically interacts with proteasomes, binds and activates the cdc34 E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme, and possesses in vitro E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:8815-20.
- 264. Van Sant, C., P. Lopez, S. J. Advani, and B. Roizman. 2001. Role of cyclin D3 in the biology of herpes simplex virus 1 ICPO. J Virol 75:1888-98.



- 265. Varshavsky, A. 1996. The N-end rule: functions, mysteries, uses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:12142-9.
- 266. Vinitsky, A., C. Michaud, J. C. Powers, and M. Orlowski. 1992. Inhibition of the chymotrypsin-like activity of the pituitary multicatalytic proteinase complex.
 Biochemistry 31:9421-8.
- 267. Vlazny, D. A., A. Kwong, and N. Frenkel. 1982. Site-specific cleavage/packaging of herpes simplex virus DNA and the selective maturation of nucleocapsids containing fulllength viral DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 79:1423-7.
- 268. Ward, P. L., and B. Roizman. 1994. Herpes simplex genes: the blueprint of a successful human pathogen. Trends Genet 10:267-74.
- 269. Warner, M. S., R. J. Geraghty, W. M. Martinez, R. I. Montgomery, J. C. Whitbeck, R. Xu, R. J. Eisenberg, G. H. Cohen, and P. G. Spear. 1998. A cell surface protein with herpesvirus entry activity (HveB) confers susceptibility to infection by mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1, herpes simplex virus type 2, and pseudorabies virus. Virology 246:179-89.
- 270. Wolfstein, A., C. H. Nagel, K. Radtke, K. Dohner, V. J. Allan, and B. Sodeik. 2006. The inner tegument promotes herpes simplex virus capsid motility along microtubules in vitro. Traffic 7:227-37.
- 271. **WuDunn, D., and P. G. Spear.** 1989. Initial interaction of herpes simplex virus with cells is binding to heparan sulfate. J Virol **63:**52-8.
- 272. Wysocka, J., and W. Herr. 2003. The herpes simplex virus VP16-induced complex: the makings of a regulatory switch. Trends Biochem Sci 28:294-304.



- 273. Yamauchi, Y., K. Kiriyama, N. Kubota, H. Kimura, J. Usukura, and Y. Nishiyama.
 2008. The UL14 tegument protein of herpes simplex virus type 1 is required for efficient nuclear transport of the alpha transinducing factor VP16 and viral capsids. J Virol 82:1094-106.
- 274. Yang, T. Y., and R. J. Courtney. 1995. Influence of the host cell on the association of ICP4 and ICP0 with herpes simplex virus type 1. Virology 211:209-17.
- 275. Yao, F., and R. J. Courtney. 1992. Association of ICP0 but not ICP27 with purified virions of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Virol 66:2709-16.
- 276. Yao, F., and R. J. Courtney. 1989. A major transcriptional regulatory protein (ICP4) of herpes simplex virus type 1 is associated with purified virions. J Virol 63:3338-44.
- 277. Ye, Y., and M. Rape. 2009. Building ubiquitin chains: E2 enzymes at work. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:755-64.
- Yeh, P. C., D. G. Meckes, Jr., and J. W. Wills. 2008. Analysis of the interaction between the UL11 and UL16 tegument proteins of herpes simplex virus. J Virol 82:10693-700.
- 279. Yu, G. Y., and M. M. Lai. 2005. The ubiquitin-proteasome system facilitates the transfer of murine coronavirus from endosome to cytoplasm during virus entry. J Virol 79:644-8.
- 280. Zago, A., C. R. Jogger, and P. G. Spear. 2004. Use of herpes simplex virus and pseudorabies virus chimeric glycoprotein D molecules to identify regions critical for membrane fusion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:17498-503.



- 281. Zeng, G. C., J. Donegan, H. L. Ozer, and R. Hand. 1984. Characterization of a ts mutant of BALB/3T3 cells and correction of the defect by in vitro addition of extracts from wild-type cells. Mol Cell Biol 4:1815-22.
- 282. **Zhang, Y., and J. L. McKnight.** 1993. Herpes simplex virus type 1 UL46 and UL47 deletion mutants lack VP11 and VP12 or VP13 and VP14, respectively, and exhibit altered viral thymidine kinase expression. J Virol **67:**1482-92.
- 283. Zhou, Z. H., D. H. Chen, J. Jakana, F. J. Rixon, and W. Chiu. 1999. Visualization of tegument-capsid interactions and DNA in intact herpes simplex virus type 1 virions. J Virol 73:3210-8.



IX. VITA

Mark Delboy was born on July 29, 1982, in Wiesbaden, Germany. He graduated from Clover Hill High School, Chesterfield, Virginia in 2001. He received his Bachelor of Science in Biology from Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, Virginia in 2005.

